

Members' Library Service Request Form

Date of Document	15/06/12
Originator	Executive Director Services For Communities
Originator's Ref (if any)	DE - Lothian JHPP 2012-14
Document Title	Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008 - Lothian Joint Health
	Protection Plan 2012-14

Please indicate if access to the document is to be "unrestricted" or "restricted", with regard to the terms of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985.

Unrestricted Restricted	Unrestricted	\square	Restricted		
-------------------------	--------------	-----------	------------	--	--

If the document is "restricted", please state on what grounds (click on grey area for dropdown menu):

For Publication	

Please indicate which committee this document should be recorded into (click on grey area for drop-down menu):

Cabinet

Additional information:

None

Authorised By	Monica Patterson
Designation	Exec Director (Support Services)
Date	01/06/12

For Office Use Only:	
Library Reference	177/12
Date Received	06/07/12
Bulletin	Jul12



REPORT TO: Members' Library Service

MEETING DATE:

BY:	Executive Director - Services for Communities
SUBJECT:	Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008 Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2012-14

1 PURPOSE

- 1.1 To inform the Council of the
 - The Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2010-12 and seek approval of the plan

2 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- 2.1 The Cabinet is asked to note the report and endorse the Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2010-12.
- 2.2 The Chief Executive signs off the Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2012-14 on behalf of the Council.

3 BACKGROUND

- 3.1 The Council's Environmental Health staff carry out investigations into a range of public health issues for example food poisoning and certain gastrointestinal illnesses and communicable diseases, local contamination incidents, chemical spills etc, as well as undertaking local environmental monitoring and inspections. All this is part of the local health protection work which happens throughout the year. Much of this work is carried out in liaison with other agencies and council services, but there is particularly close partnership working between Environmental Health staff and NHS Lothian's Health Protection Team.
- 3.2 The Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008 provides the statutory framework for Local Authorities and Health Boards to protect public health as well as clarify their respective roles. The Act sets out the duties of Scottish Ministers, health boards and local authorities to continue to make provision to protect public health in Scotland.

- 3.3 'Protecting public health' for the purposes of the 2008 Act means 'the protection of the community ... from infectious diseases, contamination or other such hazards which constitute a danger to human health; and includes the prevention of, the control of, and the provision of a public health response to such diseases, contamination or other hazards'.
- 3.4 The Act places a duty on health boards and local authorities to designate 'competent' persons to undertake functions assigned to them under the Act. The Act contains extensive powers for both local authorities and Health boards to carry out public health investigations.

A duty of co-operation is placed on health boards and local authorities in exercising the functions under the Act. Each health board must prepare a Joint Health Protection Plan for its area, and must consult the relevant local authority or local authorities in doing so.

Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2012-14

- 3.5 The Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2012-14 for NHS Lothian and Local Authorities has been produced in accordance with the Part 1 guidance for the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008 from Scottish Government and is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. The plan is a revision of the previous plan which covered the period 2010-12.
- 3.6 The purpose of the plan is to provide an overview of health protection (communicable disease and environmental health) priorities, provision and preparedness and to support the longstanding collaborative arrangements that exist between NHS Lothian and Local Authorities.
- 3.7 The key communicable disease and environmental health functions of NHS Lothian and Local Authorities are:
 - To reduce preventable illness and death from communicable disease
 - To identify potential outbreaks of communicable disease at an early stage so that effective control measures can be put in place as soon as possible
 - To improve the ability to prevent further outbreaks
 - To work with partner agencies to put in place measures for effective management of non-communicable disease public health incidents and health improvement measures to mitigate health impact of environmental hazards.
- 3.8 The plan covers the NHS Lothian Health Board area, which includes the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils.
- 3.9 NHS Lothian has the statutory responsibility to produce this plan in consultation with the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils.

- 3.10 The plan has been written through a consultative process by a working group comprising NHS Lothian's Director of Public Health and Health Policy, a Consultant in Public Health Medicine and other staff members and the Chief Officer(s) of Environmental Health of the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils.
- 3.11 This plan has been approved by the Executive Management Team of NHS Lothian, and is being reported to the relevant elected member forum of each Local Authority. It has been noted by NHS Lothian's Lothian Infection Control Area Committee (LICAC) and Healthcare Governance and Risk Management Committee (HGRM).
- 3.12 An action plan has been developed to ensure that this Joint Health Protection Plan is implemented. The steering group comprising the Director of Public Health and Health Policy, NHS Lothian and the Chief Officer(s) of Environmental Health of City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils will keep the plan under strategic review.

Implications for East Lothian Council

- 3.13 There is already close co-operation and formal liaison arrangements between NHS Lothian (Health Protection Team) and the Council's environmental health teams (particularly food & safety), and it is envisaged that these arrangements will continue.
- 3.14 The Council has a number of qualified and experienced environmental health officers who meet the competent person designation required by the Act.

4 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Protecting Public Health is an important statutory function of the Council in partnership with NHS Lothian.

5 EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 This Report is not applicable to the wellbeing of equalities groups and an Equalities Impact Assessment is not required.

6 **RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS**

- 6.1 Financial routine health protection work will be met within existing budget.
- 6.2 Personnel LA competent persons are designated from the Councils qualified senior Environmental Health Staff.
- 6.3 Other None

7 BACKGROUND PAPERS

- 7.1 Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008 -
- 7.2 Scottish Govt website: <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Health/NHS-</u> <u>Scotland/publicact</u>
- 7.3 Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan 2012-2014

AUTHOR'S NAME	David Evans
DESIGNATION	Senior Environmental & Consumer Services Manager
CONTACT INFO	devans@eastlothian.gov.uk
DATE	15 th June 2012

APPENDIX 1

LOTHIAN

JOINT HEALTH PROTECTION PLAN











April 2012 – March 2014

Contents

1.	Preface	6
2.	Overview of the Lothians	8
	.1 Population .2 Disease Burden	
3.	Health protection planning infrastructure	16
4.	National and local priorities	. 17
4 4 m	 National Priorities Local health protection priorities 4.2.1 NHS Lothian 4.2.2 Health Improvement, Efficiency, Access to services and Treatment (HEAT) targets 13 4.2.3 Emergency Planning and Business Continuity 3 Health protection risks/challenges unique to the Lothians and how they are nanaged. 4 Dealing with Public health incidents or outbreaks 	. 20 . 20 . 20 . 21 . 21
5.	-	
5 5 5 5 5 5	 Staffing	. 25 . 25 . 26 . 27 . 27 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 29 . 30 . 30 . 30
6.	Capacity and resilience	31
6	 .1 NHS Lothian	. 31
7.	Public involvement and feedback	. 31
-	.1 NHS Lothian 7.1.1 Patient and Public Involvement 7.1.2 Staff and Partnership .2 Lothian Local Authorities	. 31 . 32
8.	Monitoring and review	. 32
9.	References	. 33

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version Revision due: March 2014	Page 2 of 60
		Revision due. March 2014	

Appendix I	: Joint Health Protection Activities	36
Appendix II	: Joint Health Protection Action Plan	49
Appendix III	: Key health protection plans for the Lothian area	
Appendix IV	: Significant public health incidents or outbreaks 2010-2011 5	56

Tables:

Table 1: Countries of origin of persons seeking a National Insurance Number allocation	ו in
2007	. 10
Table 2: Number of cases of notifiable diseases in NHS Lothian, 2009 – 2011	. 12
Table 3: Local authority priority activities	. 18
Table 4: Health protection risks/challenges unique to the Lothians	
Table 5: Designated Competent Persons as designated under the Public Health (Scotland) Act 2008	

Figures:

Figure 1: Lothian estimated population by age and sex: June 2010	8
Figure 2: Net Migration to Lothian by Local Authority Area: 2009/10	9
Figure 3: Causes of death (crude rates) in the Lothian during the financial year 2010/201	1111
Figure 4: Rates of Childhood Immunisation Coverage at 24 Months for Lothian, 2001 to	2010
	14
Figure 5: Rates of Childhood Immunisation Coverage at 12 Months for Lothian, 2001 to	2010
	14
Figure 6: Joint health protection activities between NHS Lothian and Lothian L	.ocal
Authorities. (Illustrative rather than comprehensive)	28

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 3 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	6

Foreword

This is the second Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan, produced as a requirement under the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008¹. This plan has been prepared in close collaboration between NHS Lothian and the four Local Authorities of the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian.

The first plan provided guidance for the introduction of systems, identified resources that are required for delivery of health protection in Lothian and mapped out key components for implementing the Public Health Act. This plan, in addition, identifies joint areas of working between NHS Lothian and the four local authorities and key priorities to be implemented over the next two years.

NHS Lothian Public Health and Health Policy Directorate, of which the Health Protection Team (HPT) is a part, already works closely with colleagues in Environmental Health at Lothian Councils in the investigation and management of cases involving communicable diseases and environmental hazards. The Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008 (The Act) has been helpful in clarifying roles and responsibilities in this existing arrangement.

Scotland's goals in reducing mortality and morbidity from communicable disease, reducing exposure to environmental hazards, improving health, wellbeing, the quality and sustainability of the environment are set out in the national and international policy documents^{1,2,11,26,36,38}. These are echoed in the key objectives of the communicable disease and environmental health functions of NHS Lothian and Local Authorities which are:

- To reduce preventable illness and death from communicable disease
- To identify potential outbreaks of communicable disease at an early stage so that effective control measures can be put in place as soon as possible
- To improve the ability to prevent further outbreaks, and
- To work with partner agencies to put in place measures for effective management of non-communicable disease public health incidents and health improvement measures to mitigate health impact of environmental hazards.

The Act has also provided an opportunity to develop our planning process, linking not only local departmental plans but also ensuring that our objectives match closely those of the wider NHS and Lothian Councils' planning systems. Over the next two years we will continue to work towards meeting these objectives, reporting progress on an annual basis through the existing planning processes.

The collaborative approach between NHS and local authorities has been reemphasised in the 2011 Scottish Government guidance on managing public health incidents³⁵. The guidance clarifies the role of NHS Boards in sharing statutory responsibility for improving and protecting public health with Local Authorities and other partner agencies. Critical in this role is the joint formation of incident

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 4 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	Ū

management teams, the provision of the necessary resources for management of incidents on a 24 hour basis and the continuous improvement of the quality of incident management.

This plan also supports key priorities identified in the Single Outcome Agreements² (SOA) for each of the local authority areas³⁰⁻³³ between the Councils, NHS Lothian and their other community planning partners, particularly in relation to the Scottish Government national outcomes for health improvement, reducing health inequalities and delivering quality public services.

We wish to continue to improve our knowledge and the quality of the service we provide for the population of Lothian and welcome comments on this plan – please send these to <u>health.protection@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk</u>

Dr Alison McCallum Director of Public Health and Health Policy NHS Lothian

Ms Angela Leitch Chief Executive East Lothian Council Professor James Barbour Chief Executive NHS Lothian

Ms Sue Bruce Chief Executive City of Edinburgh Council

Mr Kenneth Lawrie Chief Executive Midlothian Council Mr Graham Hope Chief Executive West Lothian Council

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 5 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	6

1. Preface

This joint plan for NHS Lothian and Local Authorities has been produced in accordance with the Part 1 guidance for the new Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008¹. This aims to:

- Provide clarity about which agency and persons have overall responsibility in protecting the public health, for example ensuring lessons learned from the fatal accident inquiry into the Central Scotland E. coli O157 outbreak³.
- Ensure preparedness and enhance co-operation among agencies in combating major emergencies, for example bioterrorism and lessons from SARS.
- Resolve gaps and uncertainties in the adequacy of statutory powers that might be required for communicable disease control, particularly for emerging hazards, for example early interventions in avian or pandemic flu.
- Update the principles and concepts underpinning public health legislation for the twenty-first century to reflect changes in public health ethics and values, new scientific developments and the response to globalisation.

Purpose of the plan

The purpose of the plan is to provide an overview of health protection (communicable disease and environmental health) priorities, provision and preparedness and to support the collaborative arrangements that exist between NHS Lothian and Local Authorities. A joint overall steering group will continue to oversee the plan's implementation.

Geographical extent of the plan

This plan covers the NHS Lothian Health Board area, which includes the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils.

Statutory responsibility

NHS Lothian has the statutory responsibility to produce this plan in consultation with the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils.

Authors

The plan has been written through a consultative process by a working group comprising NHS Lothian's Director of Public Health and Health Policy, a Consultant in Public Health Medicine and other staff members and the Chief Officers of Environmental Health of the City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils. The agency representatives at the steering group which developed the plan were:

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 6 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	6

Name	Designation
Mr Andrew Blake	Environmental Health and Trading Standards Manager, West Lothian Council
Mr David Evans	Senior Environmental and Consumer Services Manager, East Lothian Council
Dr Alison McCallum	Director of Public Health and Health Policy, NHS Lothian
Dr Richard Othieno	Consultant in Public Health Medicine, NHS Lothian – Chair
Mrs Edel Ryan	Group Manager, Environmental Health Midlothian Council
Mr Colin Sibbald	Food, Health and Safety Manager, City of Edinburgh Council

Governance arrangements

This plan has been approved by the Executive Management Team of NHS Lothian, each of the Councils and the relevant elected member forum of each Local Authority. It has been noted by NHS Lothian's Lothian Infection Control Area Committee (LICAC) and Healthcare Governance and Risk Management Committee (HGRM).

Status

This plan is a public document and can be accessed by the public from NHS Lothian and Local Authorities' websites. Variations of this plan will be subject to consultation with the partner local authorities. This plan covers the period 2012-2014. This plan will be formally reviewed every two years.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 7 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	6

2. Overview of the Lothians

2.1Population

Lothian is a geographically diverse area covering approximately 700 square miles, with a population of 837,000. The largest population centre is the City of Edinburgh (population 472,000). The remaining area is split into East Lothian (96,000), Midlothian (81,000) and West Lothian (170,000). The gender ratio is 48% male to 52% female⁴.

The age profile shows that 16% of the Lothian population is 20-29 years old, as compared to the Scottish average of 10%. This difference is attributed to the large numbers of students attending higher education institutions across Lothian. **Figure 1** illustrates the current population profile by age and sex of Lothian.



Figure 1: Lothian estimated population by age and sex: June 2010

Source: GRO(S)

The population growth rate in Lothian is higher than any other Scottish Health Board. By 2023, the population of Lothian is expected to have increased by 12%, compared to a national rate of 5%. The population of East Lothian is expected to increase the most, with a 20% increase projected by 2023⁵, from 96,100 in 2008 to 115,186. The population of older adults in Lothian is also expected to grow significantly in the next ten to fifteen years as people are living longer due to improvements in health. The population of residents aged 65 years or older in Lothian is expected to rise by 16% by 2023, from 120,585 in 2008 to 139,879. This rise will be most noticeable in West Lothian, which has traditionally had a younger demographic than other areas in Lothian but whose population of

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 8 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

residents aged 65 years or older, is expected to increase by 28% from 22,097 in 2008 to 28,285^{4, 5}.

Migration and ethnicity

The most recent data available for the ethnic make-up of Lothian is from the 2001 National Census, data from the 2011 census is expected during the life of this plan. In 2001, the population of the Lothians was made up of predominantly 'White Scottish' (83.84%), 'Other White British' (9.39%) and 'Other White' (2.85%). The remaining groups made up $3.92\%^6$. There has been a significant rise in the migrant population over the last ten years, with the highest increase reported in the City of Edinburgh Council area (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2: Net Migration to Lothian by Local Authority Area: 2009/10

Net migration figures have fluctuated over the past five years. East and West Lothian saw an increase up to 2008/09 but figures have generally since been decreasing. The migration rate increased steadily up to 2008/09 but has since decreased. On average between 2008-10 there was a net inflow of 5,098 people into City of Edinburgh per year, meaning that more people entered City of Edinburgh (29,538 per year) than left (24,440 per year) (Fig 2).

The Department of Work and Pensions collects information on the number of National Insurance Number allocations to overseas nationals. **Table 1** shows the five most common countries of origin associated with National Insurance numbers issued to overseas nationals in 2007 by council area. This highlights G8 countries, Australia, India and the Republic of Ireland. It should be noted that these figures do not include dependants or adults who are not economically active.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 9 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

 Table 1: Countries of origin of persons seeking a National Insurance Number allocation in 2007.

Council Area	Number of countries of origin	Top five most common countries of origin
City of Edinburgh	80	Poland, Australia, India, Spain, Republic of Ireland
West Lothian	20	Poland, Slovakia, India, Hungary, Latvia
East Lothian	19	Poland, Lithuania, India, Republic of Ireland, France
Midlothian	10	Poland, Germany, Australia, Italy, Slovakia

Source: GRO(S)

Culture

Lothian is a host to major cultural, educational and political establishments and events, which can present challenging health protection and emergency planning issues. These include:

- Edinburgh is the capital city, with the Scottish Parliament and Executive, Holyrood Palace and Edinburgh Castle.
- Higher education institutions Edinburgh has four universities and several colleges, with a total student population of 35,000.
- There are five teaching hospitals, with a staffing population of 28,000.
- There are twelve annual international festivals, including the Edinburgh Festival, which bring many thousands of visitors to the city.
- There are major sporting events, such as rugby internationals, football matches and open golf championships.
- On occasion, Edinburgh hosts major world events such as the G8 Summit, the Commonwealth Games and Royal events.

Transport

Lothian has a complex transport network linking it to major cities in the rest of Scotland and United Kingdom. These include:

- Major trunk roads include A1, A720 (city bypass), M8, M9, A68 and A7.
- Edinburgh airport, Waverley and Haymarket railway stations and St Andrews bus station. These are destinations and connection points for many local and international travellers.
- Water transport Lothian hosts the Leith Docks and Hound Point where many international vessels berth. It also has proximity to the Rosyth European Ferry Terminal.
- Lothian also has a canal that links Edinburgh directly with Glasgow. The canal is now largely used for recreational purposes.
- A new tram system for the City of Edinburgh is currently under development..
- Traffic pollution contributes to poor air quality. Air quality is monitored in all Lothian Local Authorities. There are three air quality management areas (AQMA) in Edinburgh (the city centre, Leith and Corstorphine); one in

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 10 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

Midlothian (Pathhead – primarily due to particulate matter, influenced by fossil fuel burning) and one in West Lothian (Broxburn). It is likely further areas will be added to or extended in the foreseeable future...

- There were almost 370,000 licensed vehicles in Lothian in 2008. Car ownership patterns reflect the provision of public transport. In 2008, there were 0.32 cars per head of population in the City of Edinburgh, whereas in East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian there were more than 0.42 cars per head of population²⁵.
- Cycling safe cycle routes are not yet comprehensive, they are established in some locations and are in development in others. Considerable effort is being devoted to safe walk routes to school for children to address traffic congestion, in conjunction with work on preventing obesity and reducing the proportion of people who are inactive.

2.2 Disease Burden

The most common causes of death among the people of Lothian in the period 2010/2011 are listed in **Figure 3**. The physical environment plays a significant role in the causation of the top ten diseases which contribute to death in Lothian. Infectious disease processes feature as one of the top twenty causes of death in Lothian.

Figure 3: Causes of death (crude rates) in the Lothian during the financial year 2010/2011



Source: GROS, NHS Lothian Health Intelligence Unit

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 11 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

Communicable Diseases

The number of cases of notifiable diseases reported to the NHS Lothian HPT between 2009 and 2011 is shown in **Table 2**. Gastrointestinal diseases are the most common notifiable infectious disease conditions. Each case requires follow up by the HPT operation team and colleagues in Environmental Health, to ensure appropriate control measures are in place and to investigate the source of the infection.

The number of tuberculosis (TB) cases in Lothian has risen since 2003. In 2011 there were 77 notifications compared with 74 (a three-year average from 2004 to 2006) and 57 between 2000 -2003. The average incidence rate is now 10.6 per 100,000 (average from 2008 to 2010) in Lothian up from 9.4 per 100,000 (average from 2005 to 2007).

The city of Edinburgh has higher rates of TB than other parts of Lothian with the highest average annual rate from 2008-2010 in the North East of the city (19.8 per 100,000) and the South East (17.9 per 100,000).

The proportion of non respiratory cases has increased to 40% (44/110) of total cases in 2010. Between 1999 to 2000 31% of TB cases in Lothian were born outside the UK, by 2004 this proportion had risen to nearly 50% and by 2010 57% (63/110) of cases were born outside the UK.

Although only a small proportion of the total public health notifications are for TB, each TB case requires a large input of nursing and public health time to identify contacts and ensure that adherence is maintained during the six months treatment period. The complex nature of TB requires a multidisciplinary approach from TB nurses, clinical teams in primary and secondary care, microbiology and public health. In NHS Lothian regular multidisciplinary TB meetings are held to review all cases in Lothian. Over recent years the TB nursing service has expanded to cope with the larger number of TB cases being seen in NHS Lothian. Each case is contact traced and close contacts, for example household members, are screened to identify linked TB cases. This is necessary to control the spread of disease.

Table 2: Number of case	s of notifiable diseases	in NHS Lothian, 2009 – 2011
-------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------------

Notifiable Diseases/Organisms	Year		
Notifiable Diseases/Organisms	2009	2010	2011
Chickenpox*	2831	n/a	n/a
Campylobacter	1246	1234	934
Mumps	334	132	94
Salmonella	138	177	106
Cryptosporidium	97	92	56
Viral Hepatitis*	81	91	n/a
Giardia	66	63	55
Tuberculosis (Resp)	45	66	47
Tuberculosis (Non-Resp)	37	44	30
Scarlet Fever*	43	n/a	n/a

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 12 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	J

Bacillary Dysentery	33	34	34		
E Coli O157	27	15	21		
Whooping Cough	16	8	27		
Meningococcal Infect	10	13	18		
Rubella	9	6	<5		
Food Poisoning*	5	n/a	n/a		
Entamoeba*	<5	<5	<5		
Measles	<5	6	20		
Lyme Disease*	<5	n/a	n/a		
Erysipelas*	<5	n/a	n/a		
Meningitis – Other	<5	<5	<5		
Legionellosis	<5	<5	<5		
Vibrio cholerae	<5	<5	<5		
Listeria monocytogenes	<5	<5	0		
E. coli (Non O157 VTEC)	0	0	<5		
Haemophilus influenza type B	0	0	<5		
Total 5051 2001 1455					
*no longer notifiable. n/a – not availab	le				
Source: SIDSS V2					
NB notifiable diseases are based on c	linical notifications				

The countries in the European Region of the WHO, including Scotland, are committed to the elimination of measles and rubella by 2015 through increased rates of vaccine uptake³⁸. Childhood immunisation rates in NHS Lothian are amongst the highest in the UK for an urban population and close to the Scottish national average (Figure 4, Figure 5). However, there are differences in the uptake of immunisation between localities in NHS Lothian and work is underway to increase immunisation uptake among children and young people aged under 19 years in groups and settings where immunization coverage is low. This will involve the of mapping differences in uptake to geography, demography and local service characteristics, the identification of barriers to uptake and approaches that can overcome them and then the implementation of whole system and targeted changes to the immunisation programme.

<u>Vaccine preventable diseases</u> (for example, whooping cough (pertussis), measles, mumps and rubella) account for a small but significant proportion of notifications in Lothian. Each notification and laboratory confirmed case is followed up by the HPT to reduce the likelihood of further cases and offer vaccination if required.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 13 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5



Figure 4: Rates of Childhood Immunisation Coverage at 24 Months for Lothian, 2001 to 2010

Source: SIRS Immunisation System, Information and Statistics Division (ISD) Scotland



Figure 5: Rates of Childhood Immunisation Coverage at 12 Months for Lothian, 2001 to 2010

Source: SIRS Immunisation System, Information and Statistics Division (ISD) Scotland

Environment and Health

The European Public Health Association, in its 2011 report³⁹, noted that the environment is increasingly more complex and the link between health and environment has become so evident that it recommends immediate action by all governments and public health communities. According to a recent WHO study³⁶,

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 14 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

about 24% of the global burden of disease and 23% of deaths are attributable to environmental risk factors. In a country like Scotland, WHO estimates that the proportion of the total burden of disease attributable to environmental risk factors is about 14%. Of the total global burden of disease, WHO estimates that 5.7% was attributable to environmental exposure to chemicals, the largest contributors being indoor smoke from solid fuel use, outdoor air pollution and second-hand smoke. The greatest impacts on health are on rates of cancers, cardiovascular disease, injuries and neuropsychiatric disorders³⁶.

Creating safe and positive environments for health requires us to think, plan and deliver in new and more effective ways. The quality of the environment can vary between different areas and communities. There is evidence that people who are socially and economically disadvantaged often live in the worst environments^{28, 29}. Poor environment can affect people's health and wellbeing and can add to the burden of social and economic deprivation²⁹. The causes of these inequalities are often complex and long-standing. Some of the environmental problems are due to the historical location of industry and communities; others are the result of the impacts of new developments such as traffic, urban planning that has not prioritised healthy built environments. Tackling environment in the future is a continuing challenge. The responsibilities of health and local authorities are outlined in *Good Places, Better Health*¹⁰.

The contribution of physical surroundings to the health of those living in our most deprived areas of society is significant, a view increasingly supported by the flow of evidence. There are indications that there is no significant socioeconomic gradient in the level of known, direct environmental hazards to human health. Frequently though, less affluent communities are untidy, damaged and lacking in amenities. These factors create neighbourhoods which are often alienating and even threatening. This creates indirect environmental hazards to human health that act through a more complex causal pathway. This produces an unhealthy built environment that contributes to a cocktail of disadvantage inconsistent with health and wellbeing for adults and children¹⁰.

Health outcomes are consistently poorer in communities with poor neighbourhood environments²¹⁻²⁴. In *Equally Well*¹¹, the Health Inequalities Task Force highlighted the need to work to reduce further exposure to factors in the physical and social environments that cause stress, damage health and wellbeing and contribute to health inequalities. Action to improve housing, increasing physical activity or reducing traffic pollution can only happen by working with local authority partners to identify opportunities for health improvement in areas such as land use planning, transport, housing and environment.

The responsibilities of environmental and public health professionals for protecting and improving the environment include responding to current incidents, events and situations and preventing avoidable hazards and the consequent risks to public health by intervening before exposure has occurred.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 15 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

The environmental protection functions undertaken by environmental health professionals complement those undertaken by the NHS. Health Boards and Local Authorities have a duty to co-operate in pursuit of protecting and improving the health and wellbeing of the local population. Environmental Health professionals advise on the development of laws, regulations and policies at local, national and international level and carry the major responsibility for local implementation and enforcement in the following areas:

- Air quality
- Contaminated land sites
- Noise and other statutory nuisances
- Recreational water quality
- Drinking water quality particularly private supplies
- Food safety
- Living and working conditions
- Intentional and unintentional injuries at home and at work
- Public safety exposure to hazardous substances
- Skin piercing and sunbed regulation

The NHS role is complementary and focuses on prevention, assessment, protection and mitigation of human exposure to environmental hazards and their health effects. In addition to food and water, these include:

- Chemicals, toxins, and poisons
- Ionising and non-ionising radiation Electromagnetic Frequencies (EMF)
- Physical hazards particulates, fibres and other factors related to the physical environment including climate change, extremes of heat, cold, flooding
- Accidental or deliberate or malicious release scenarios including Chemical Biological, Radiological and Nuclear (CBRN) warfare agents

Systematic approaches are used to assess the potential positive and negative impact of developments on those who will be affected. The tools employed include: Health Impact Assessment, Strategic Environmental Assessment, Environmental Impact Assessment, screening of Pollution, Prevention and Control applications, assessment of planning applications and investigating the health issues associated with contaminated land. These are essential elements of this work programme.

In a major incident, joint working is essential to ensure that the Scientific and Technical Advice to the Strategic Co-ordinating Group reflects the complementary expertise of public health and environmental health professionals.

3. Health protection planning infrastructure

NHS Lothian and the Local Authority Environmental Health Department(s) have shared health protection plans, some of which are developed jointly between the agencies, while others are produced nationally (**Appendix III**). The plans are normally developed and reviewed every three years.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 16 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	3

4. National and local priorities

4.1 National Priorities

Scottish Government long term goals and priorities are aligned with those of the UK and Europe for protecting and improving health. The World Health Organisation (WHO) European Region is pursuing health in all policies as a key objective of policy making. This also includes a commitment to reducing disease inequalities in health outcomes across societies. The current *Health 21* framework advocates 'generating action from many sectors to ensure more health-promoting physical, economic, social and cultural environments for people'²⁶. In 2007, the WHO's Commission on the Social Determinants of Health set out the evidence for change and objectives for action, as did the recent Fair Society, Healthier Lives *Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England post 2010*³⁴. Equally Well¹¹ and Good Places, Better Health¹⁰ have already established Scottish priorities in terms of tackling health inequalities and the importance of the links between environment and health.

The Scottish Government now operates under a National Outcomes Framework with a commitment to 'focus government and public services on creating a more successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, through increasing sustainable economic growth.' In addition, the Government Economic Strategy²⁷ includes population growth as a key component of future sustainable economic development. Among the Scottish Government's five strategic objectives are commitments to a Scotland that is healthier, wealthier, fairer, safer, stronger and greener²⁷. These objectives are linked to a series of outcomes and associated indicators. A concordat, agreed by Convention of Scottish Local Authorities (COSLA), set the terms of a new relationship between the Scottish Government and local government. The development of a Single Outcome Agreement (SOA) formed an important part of this relationship. The SOAs produced for each Local Authority area³⁰⁻³³ contain an overview of how the local community planning partners (including the Local Authority and NHS Lothian) will promote the Scottish Government's fifteen National Outcomes¹² and how these link to local outcomes. Health Boards and Local Authorities commit to delivering these outcomes jointly:

- Our children have the best start in life and are ready to succeed.
- We live longer, healthier lives.
- We have tackled the significant inequalities in Scottish society.
- We have improved the life chances for children, young people and families at risk.
- We live our lives safe from crime, disorder and danger.
- We live in well-designed, sustainable places where we are able to access the amenities and services we need.
- We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 17 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

- We value and enjoy our built and natural environment and protect it and enhance it for future generations.
- We reduce the local and global environmental impact of our consumption and production.
- Our public services are high quality, continually improving, efficient and responsive to local people's needs.

The delivery of these activities aligns with a wide range of national and local strategies, including:

- Good Places, Better Health. A New Approach to Environment and Health in Scotland (Scottish Government 2008)¹⁰: this is an implementation plan looking at how the physical environment influences health. The Environmental Health contribution will be in protecting these environments.
- A Children's Environment and Health Strategy for the UK (Health Protection Agency)¹⁵: this is a strategy for protecting children's health, including ensuring that they are free from food and water based infection, noise, heavy metals and breathe clean air, all of which are core Environmental Health activities.
- The Food Standards Agency (FSA) Strategic Plan (2010)¹⁶: this has three key targets: food safety; eating for health; choice. These are addressed through routine enforcement work, and developing work with the Community Health [Care] Partnerships (CHP/CHCP) in promoting healthy eating choices in local catering establishments.
- All councils have their own Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy documents¹⁷. These recognise and value the importance of partnership working at various levels to tackle behavioural factors that impact on the health and resilience of local communities. Through their public health teams, Local Authorities contribute to tackling many of the environmental health issues impacting on people's wellbeing. This helps Local Authorities to fulfil their duty to improve quality of life as set out in the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

*Health and Safety Executive (HSE) Five-Year Strategy (2009)*¹⁸: Local authorities operate in partnership with HSE to ensure that duty holders manage their workplaces with due regard to the health and safety of their workforce and those affected by their work activities. To achieve this, local authorities provide advice and guidance on what the law requires, conduct inspections and investigations and take enforcement action where appropriate.

Table 3 shows health protection priority activities undertaken by local authorities in the Lothians. This list is not exhaustive but illustrates the range of services within the four authorities.

Table 3: Loca	l authority	priority	activities
---------------	-------------	----------	------------

Local	authority	priority	activities
-------	-----------	----------	------------

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 18 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

Corporate and Business Advice – advising on local environmental health and public safety matters	Supporting Business through advice and training to meet Environmental Health Standards Civic government licensing Advisor to Licensing Board
Emergency Planning – training for and responding to emergencies	Flood management Emergency planning preparedness Scientific services advice
Food safety - securing the hygienic standards of premises, and the compositional standards of food and water	Food Hygiene Inspections (cleanliness) Food Standards Inspections (composition) Food Sampling – Bacteriological Food Sampling – Chemical Food Alerts
Hazards – securing consumer and public safety issues	Petroleum Licensing Explosive Safety/Licensing Consumer/product Safety Anti-counterfeiting Chemical incidents
Housing – securing residential accommodation meets minimum standards	Housing Support Services Rough Sleeping Initiatives Housing Standards Issues Houses in multiple occupation Caravan Site Licensing
Public Health & Nuisance – investigation and enforcement of public health nuisances and concerns	General Public Health/nuisance Communicable Disease Investigation Pest control Port Health control Mortuaries and Crematoria National assistance Act burials etc Smoking in public places
Occupational Health & Safety – securing health, safety and welfare standards in local workplaces	Accident Investigation Health and Safety Inspections & other interventions Register of cooling towers (Legionella) Sun bed regulation Regulation of tattooing and skin piercing
Pollution and contamination – environmental monitoring and investigation of incidents and concerns	Noise Control Contaminated Land Chemicals and oil spills Radiation Monitoring Air Quality Monitoring Vehicle emission testing Consultee on Planning Applications (Fumes, dust, noise impact of developments on health, contaminated land remediation) Environmntal impact assessment
Water Quality – monitoring of drinking water and recreational water quality	Water Sampling – Private and Public supplies Swimming Pool Sampling Recreational water quality – coastal and inland waters
Animal Health investigation & enforcement of	Animal Health and Welfare Animal Feed Stuffs

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 19 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

animal health and welfare	Animal breeding and boarding
standards	Dog controls

4.2 Local health protection priorities

4.2.1 NHS Lothian

Health protection priorities in Lothian are determined by international, national and locally identified potential hazards. The national priorities are set by the Scottish Government. Local priorities are determined as part of the annual planning process during which hazards and potential hazards are identified. Prevention and mitigation are then allocated appropriate resources. The Chief Medical Officer for Scotland identified the 2008-2010 national health protection priorities listed below. These remain as key national health protection priorities.

- Healthcare Associated Infections (HAI) and antimicrobial resistance
- Vaccine preventable diseases and their impact on current and planned immunisation programmes.
- A potential pandemic of influenza.
- Environmental exposures which have an adverse impact on health.
- Gastro-intestinal and zoonotic infections.
- Hepatitis C and other blood borne viruses.

4.2.2 Health Improvement, Efficiency, Access to services and Treatment (HEAT) targets13

HEAT targets are a core set of national objectives, targets and measures for the NHS. The targets are set for a three year period and progress towards them is measured through the Local Delivery Plan (LDP) process. Two of the targets relate to reduction in Healthcare Associated Infection and improvement in childhood immunisations. Under these targets NHS Lothian will focus its efforts towards:

- Further reducing healthcare associated infections so that by March 2013 NHS Boards' staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia (including MRSA) cases are 0.26 or less per 1000 acute occupied bed days; and the rate of Clostridium difficile infections in patients aged 65 and over is 0.39 cases or less per 1000 total occupied bed days.
- Improving childhood immunisations and vaccine uptake to 95% for all childhood primary and booster vaccinations by analysing uptake by practice regions and identify localised actions for improving uptake.

Specific programme priorities include:

- Eradicating measles and rubella by 2015
- Viral hepatitis: To reduce the avoidable burden of ill-health and premature death, including liver failure ,NHS Lothian will implement actions on hepatitis B and C outlined in the Scottish Government Sexual Health and Blood Borne Virus Framework through the NHS Lothian Hepatitis C Managed Care Network (MCN).

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 20 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	0

- Pandemic Flu Plan: NHS Lothian continues to develop robust plans and ensure the pandemic flu plan is kept up-to-date and to target at risk and occupational group with vaccination.
- Influenza A(H1N1) Pandemic: To contribute to the reduction in the burden of disease from respiratory infections and their complications, ongoing surveillance of cases of influenza A(H1N1) continues and NHS Lothian will ensure arrangements are in place to offer vaccination to the Lothian population against this virus as appropriate.
- HPV vaccine programme: To reduce the burden of HPV related disease, specifically avoidable death from cervical cancer, NHS Lothian continues to implement the HPV programme for girls (born on or after September 1993) who are in and out of school. Out of hours services and GP practices are involved in delivery of the programme to improve uptake.
- Tuberculosis (TB) control and prevention: To prevent the spread of TB, and to reduce the burden of disease, particularly among people who have other illnesses, NHS Lothian is implementing the national TB action plan published in 2011. It is introducing a dynamic web based surveillance system that provides real time functionality which is efficient and easy to use; exploring local ways of identifying new entrants, implementing local systems of case-finding for latent TB infection in these entrants; working with statutory and voluntary organisations and groups who regularly come into contact with new entrants to support GP registration; ensuring that primary care staff are able to assess new entrants and refer as appropriate in line with national guidance, and engaging with primary care teams to highlight the increased risk of TB amongst problem alcohol users.
- HIV action plan: To reduce the burden of avoidable infection and illness, NHS Lothian will develop an integrated care pathway that includes prevention, early diagnosis, effective care and treatment provision to implement HIV standards produced by Healthcare Improvement Scotland in 2011.

4.2.3 Emergency Planning and Business Continuity

NHS Lothian is required to ensure emergency planning preparedness and business continuity in accordance with the Civil Contingencies Act of 2004. NHS Lothian has robust arrangements in place to manage major incidents and emergency planning, including business continuity plans with clear accountability arrangements that have been rated 'green' by Scottish Government Resilience. The Major Incident Strategic Response Plan continues to be updated in conformity with the national guidance, 'Preparing Scotland'¹⁴.

4.3 Health protection risks/challenges unique to the Lothians and how they are managed

While there are shared health protection risks nation wide, Lothian also has its own unique ones. The Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008 and other legislation provide a statutory basis for interventions and there is a shared risk assessment process with stakeholders. These stakeholders include

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 21 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

Environmental Health and other appropriate local authority services, the police and fire services, the Scottish Ambulance Services (SAS), Scottish Water (SW) and the Scottish Environment Protection Agency (SEPA). The risks and challenges unique to Lothian and how they are managed are detailed in **Table 4**. In addition, Appendix II lists key health protection plans to manage incidents.

Unique				
Situation/Position	Risk/Challenges	Mitigation Measures		
Host to several universities with large numbers of students in Halls of residence, flats and houses, for example, the University	Increased opportunity for introduction and spread of infection.	NHS Lothian works closely with universities regards monitoring and control of infection such as mumps and meningitis.		
of Edinburgh has 16,000 students.	Increased use of houses in multiple occupation (HMO).	Local authorities regulate HMOs.		
University centres for research including veterinary schools, nuclear medicine, biohazards and life sciences research and bio-research facilities, for example Pentland Science Park.	Bio-hazards, use of radio- active materials.	National arrangements are in place for the regulation and control of nuclear medicine and biohazards in the universities and hospitals.		
Host to Scotland's Capital City, Holyrood Palace, and the Scottish Parliament and associated VIPs.	Increased potential for terrorist incidents.	Lothian and Borders has emergency plans for CBRN ²⁰ incidents and major incidents. City of Edinburgh Council is developing an evacuation plan.		
Centre of culture which hosts annual festivals, Hogmanay /New Year celebrations, international events such as the G8 and major international sporting events (for example World Cup Sevens rugby), as well as associated VIPs.	Brings together populations from different parts of the world with a risk of new infection coming into the areas. There is potential risk of terrorism in large crowds.	Annual multi-agency plans are in place for such events. The Hogmanay plan is tested prior to the season starting. Appropriate plans are put in place for international events.		
Port Health - Major local and international transport hubs in the local area including: Edinburgh Airport, Leith Harbour, South Queensferry terminal, Waverly/Haymarket Train Stations. St Andrews Bus Station.	There is a risk of imported infectious diseases from other countries.	NHS Lothian and City of Edinburgh Council have a port health response plan developed in collaboration with the airport authorities. Plans are underway for the development of other port health plans. International Health Regulations exist in the event of a serious infectious disease emerging locally.		
Sites of potential flooding, for example River Esk, Almond, Water of Leith, Braid Burn, Burdiehouse Burn, Figgate Burn, River	Climate change is presenting a potential risk of Increased opportunity for displacement of individuals due to flooding, plus disease	Emergency flood response plans are in place. Flood Prevention Act duties are undertaken by local authorities.		

Table 4: Health protection risks/challenges unique to the Lothians
--

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 22 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	Ū

Unique Situation/Position	Risk/Challenges	Mitigation Measures
Tyne, Biel water, Brocks	rick after any fleeding	
Burn and Linlithgow Mains.	risk after any flooding incident.	
Host to Torness Nuclear	Risk of nuclear incident.	Emergency plans are in place
Power Station.	Public concern.	with partnership agencies.
Host to Addiewell (West Lothian) and Edinburgh prisons – includes vulnerable populations.	Prison population known to be at higher risk of hepatitis B, HIV and TB. As a closed communal setting it is also at risk of communicable disease outbreaks. This population also has an increased burden of non- communicable disease.	NHS Lothian has close working relationship with prison staff for the provision of appropriate preventive measures and early intervention in incidents and outbreaks.
Old reservoirs and water treatment plants in need of development.	Potential risk of contamination of drinking water supply.	Scottish Water has long term plan for replacement of the installations. Regular sampling and monitoring of supply and distribution system
Private water supplies in more remote rural communities across the area.	Risk of contamination with infection and chemicals.	Routine sampling and monitoring by Environmental Health with grant aid available to improve the quality of the water supply.
Coastal water quality along the Firth of Forth is critical to the high quality environment for residents and visitors.	These waters have a potential of flooding or being contaminated by agents such as oil spillage which could be a risk to public health. Breakdown of sewage infrastructure resulting in coastal water contamination. Major oil spill from tanker traffic in Firth of Forth	Multi agency emergency plans, including the Waste Water Incident Plan. Local monitoring by LAs and SEPA.
Tourism is a major contributor to local economy	Loss of reputation if major public health incident	Incident management plans Food and water safety controls.
Potential emissions and incidents relating to industrial processes in the area including: distilling and brewing; electricity generation; open cast mining and quarrying;	Risk of major incidents and release of toxic chemicals. Increase air pollution from routine emissions. Legionella in cooling towers.	All the agencies have major incident plans which are regularly exercised. Local authorities maintain cooling towers registers.
cement manufacture.		
Legacy of an industrial history and the associated issues of contaminated land including ex-mining areas and former landfill sites.	Potential chemical environmental pollution. Complaints from communities with assertions of health risk.	Contaminated land issues are addressed either by enforcing conditions attached to planning consents or invoking the powers contained in part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1990. Monitoring by the

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 23 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

Unique Situation/Position	Risk/Challenges	Mitigation Measures
		local authorities and investigation and control of incidents where there is potential human exposure.
West Lothian hosts the second largest poultry flock in Scotland, arable beef and dairy farming and an operational slaughterhouse.	Potential animal health risks (for example bird flu and other zoonoses).	Disease contingency plans are in place with relevant partner agencies (East Lothian, SG, Police, Animal Health)
Substance misuse.	Substance misuse is a common cause of ill health, death and drug related crimes.	Most people with substance misuse problems are cared for by General Practitioners. Comprehensive range of multi- agency, evidence based prevention, treatment and care services in place coordinated through Alcohol and Drug Partnerships, HIV, Hepatitis B and C action plans.
Air quality issues.	Increased risk of respiratory and cardiovascular diseases.	Local authorities monitor air quality declaring Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) and developing action plans as appropriate.

4.4 Dealing with Public health incidents or outbreaks

Across the Lothians a number of health protection incidents and outbreaks of communicable diseases are dealt with each year. As reported in the Director of Public Health Annual Reports, there were 40 incidents in 2010 and 24 in 2011. About a quarter of these incidents are related to healthcare associated infections. Where necessary, these incidents and outbreaks have been managed within joint multi-agency and multi-disciplinary frameworks involving NHS Lothian and one or more of the four Local authorities. Larger or more complex incidents involve the Lothian and Borders Strategic Co-ordinating Group (L&B SCG), for example, the Dalmeny Tank Farm incident of 2011 and the Pandemic Influenza outbreak in 2009. Some of the other incidents managed in the same period have been smaller in scale but have required specialist expertise and a considerable amount of resources to manage.

As part of the continuous improvement of incident and outbreak management, NHS Lothian, the Local Authorities and other partner agencies are revising and amending policies and practice. Lessons learned are disseminated actively to spread learning, including by debriefing meetings, final reports and review of the implementation of recommendations.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 24 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	J

5. Resources and operational arrangements

NHS Lothian and the four local authorities in Lothian are committed to complying with the requirements stipulated in the 2011 Scottish Government guidance, on Management of public health incidents³⁵, as a priority. This will include providing staff trained to the agreed standard who are able to participate in Incident Management Teams (IMTs). The guidance also sets out the level of resources regarded as adequate and the support required to manage public health incidents.

5.1 Staffing

NHS Lothian and the four Local Authorities have each appointed competent persons and share competent persons lists, in accordance with the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008. **Table 5** shows the numbers of competent persons appointed by each agency. Each of the agencies will maintain sufficient numbers of competent persons and update the lists as appropriate. The next formal review of competent persons will be carried out in 2014.

Table 5: Designated Competent Persons as designated under the Public Health etc
(Scotland) Act 2008

Agency	NHS Lothian	City of Edinburgh	East Lothian	Midlothian	West Lothian
Designated competent persons	12	41	9	3	5

In addition to the designated competent persons, local authorities can call upon a number of other staff who work within the overall remit of their environmental services to assist in the investigation of incidents if necessary and appropriate.

5.2 IT and communications technology

Information and Communications technologies are available to NHS Lothian and local authorities to facilitate health protection and environmental health work, including the management of incidents and outbreaks are set out below.

5.2.1 NHS Lothian Electronic Guidance and guidelines:

- NHS Lothian staff have access on the web e-library the NHS electronic health library.
- NHS Lothian Public Health Staff who work out of hours are provided with a set of local guidance and guidelines for reference.
- NHS Lothian Health Protection Team (HPT) keeps a database of on-call guidance.
- SHPIR, the Scottish Health Protection Information Resource (Health Protection Scotland [HPS]) provides a suit of key nationally updated guidance.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 25 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	•

• On-call staff have access to international travel advice and guidance via TRAVAX website.

Information Technology:

- Mobile phones and bleeps are issued to out of hours staff.
- Encrypted laptops and encrypted memory sticks are available for staff to take home when on-call.
- A standard operating procedure for establishing a telephone helpline within NHS Lothian is currently being developed by the HPT and Telecommunication Department is nearing completion. This will ensure that a helpline can be set up rapidly, where it is considered appropriate to have an additional point of contact for the public during a an incident, to supplement NHS24.
- TRAK, the patient management system, is used for accessing laboratory results and information relating to hospital patients.
- NHS Lothian SCI-store e-results, the Scottish Care Information System are used by GPs for notification to the board and storage of laboratory results used for managing patients.
- Scottish Environmental Incident Surveillance System (SEISS) is a database of environmental health incidents in Scotland.
- Toxbase, a database that provides information on toxin and poisons for managing cases and incidents.
- The Scottish Infectious Disease Surveillance System (version 2) (SIDSS 2,) for infectious diseases is used for notification by Boards to HPS.
- The Scottish Immune Recall System (SIRS) is a database used as a call and re-call system immunisation programmes.
- Community Health Index (CHI) provides authorised members of staff patient identifier information which is used for tracing patients. Access is controlled by the Director of Public Health and Health Policy as Guardian of the CHI.
- The Electronic Communication of Surveillance in Scotland (ECOSS) is used for laboratory services notification to NHS Lothian Public Health Directorate and from the Directorate to HPS.
- The Airwave encrypted digital radio system was installed within NHS Lothian, in March 2011 with base sets, provided by Scottish Ambulance Service, located in our Emergency Departments. Two hand-held radios were issued by Scottish Government to Emergency Planning for use during a major incident.
- NHS Lothian is part of MTPAS, the Mobile Telecommunications Privileged Access Scheme. Under this scheme a Network Service Provider (NSP) a single special privileged access SIM cards (MTPAS SIMs) to Category 1 (including NHS Lothian) and 2 responders, as defined in the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA) 2004, to allow continued communication when there is a network congestion or shutdown.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 26 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	

5.2.2 Local Authorities

Local authorities have databases with addresses and contact details for all food businesses. These systems are capable of interrogation and can be used to produce specific premises lists subject to the coding structures used. Edinburgh and West Lothian use Authority Public Protection (APP) by Civica; East and Midlothian use the Uniform system by IDOX technology.

- The Airwave encrypted digital radio system has been adopted by the Local Authorities Emergency Planning and Business Continuity Services. Two hand-held radios were issued by Scottish Government to each LA for Emergency Planning for use during a major incident. Additional handsets may be accessed in the event of an emergency
- A number of the Lothian Local Authorities have key personnel who are also part of MTPAS, the Mobile Telecommunications Privileged Access Scheme to allow continued communication when there is a network congestion or shutdown.

5.3 Scientific and Laboratory Services

The scientific and laboratory services which NHS Lothian and local authorities require for surveillance and management of public health incidents, which are currently available include:

- NHS microbiological and biological laboratories based at the Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh and the national reference laboratories.
- Edinburgh Scientific Services
- Scottish water laboratories
- Scottish Environment Protection Agency (SEPA) Laboratories
- Foods Standards Agencies (FSA) Food Control Laboratory
- Health Protection Scotland analytical and epidemiological support
- Scottish Poisons Unit
- Privately Contracted Laboratories

5.4 Collaborative arrangements

Organisational arrangements are in place to facilitate good collaborative working between NHS Lothian, Local Authorities and other health protection partners, including Animal Health Services, Scottish Water and other utility companies, the FSA and SEPA. As part of emergency planning arrangements, these agencies are represented at the Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG) bi-monthly tactical group meeting and may attend quarterly meetings. Lothian Infection Control Advisory Committee also meets on a bi-monthly basis to review policies

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 27 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	0

and infection control issues. Health protection incident review activities also take place in a number of committees and groups. These include:

- Hepatitis C Managed Care Network holds an annual event.
- Immunisation incidents are reviewed at the Local Immunisation Co-ordinating Group (LICOG) meetings.
- The Avian and Pandemic Influenza Planning Group (AIPG) meets two to three times a year.
- The NHS Health Protection Joint Liaison Group Meeting' is held quarterly.
- Research and teaching programmes between NHS Lothian and Edinburgh universities.

Figure 6 is an illustrative summary of the joint working and areas of collaboration between NHS Lothian and the four Lothian Local Authorities. The details on specific areas of joint working are in Appendix I.

Figure 6: Joint health protection activities between NHS Lothian and Lothian Local Authorities. (Illustrative rather than comprehensive)

LOCAL AUTHORITIES Food & food hygiene standards Public health nuisance control Pest control Occupational health & safety Consumer protection against hazards Health and safety at work Air quality monitoring Recreational water monitoring	Environmental impact assessment Licensing Contaminated land investigation Safe housing Joint health protect Public health incide investigations & ma Port health incident international health regulations Provision of mortua Smoking and substan Animal health and zo Drinking water moni	nt enviro nagement preve s & & con iries nce misuse ponotic diseases	Teaching & Research nunicable & onmental disease ntion, investigation itrol Surveillance of diseases & incidents Vaccinations of vulnerable populations
water	Animal health and zo	oonotic diseases	
monitoring Noise control	Emergency Planning	_ / _	
	Scientific & Laborato	ory investigations	

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 28 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	6

5.4 Out of hours response arrangements

5.4.1 NHS Lothian

NHS Lothian out of hours arrangement involves the provision of on call staff. Public Health and Health Policy provides a 24/7 response and there is a contacts directory and a call-out process from the Royal Infirmary Edinburgh (RIE) switchboard in the event of an emergency. In the case of major incidents and outbreaks such as a flu pandemic situation, support from other parts of the Directorate, for example, scientific and analytical staff in the Health Intelligence Unit , for weekend reporting as and when required. The on call team can be contacted out of hours on **0131 242 1000**.

5.4.2 Local Authorities

The four Local Authorities have emergency out-of-hours procedures in place. These are accessed through call centres within each authority. The FSA has lists of nominated contact officers for each authority in case of emergency food borne incidents. Contact centre details are:

City of Edinburgh	0131 200 2000
East Lothian Council	01875 612 818
Midlothian Council	0131 663 7211
West Lothian Council	01506 775 000

5.5 Reviewing Health Protection Standard Operating Procedures (SOP) or guidance

The Directorate of Public Health and Health Policy has standard operating procedures for significant infectious diseases and major outbreaks. The Health Protection Team workplan includes reviewing standard operating procedures with partners. Those requiring review are identified based on their review date or the emergence of new national guidance.

Debriefs for significant incidents or major outbreaks are held to learn lessons from how they have been managed. These debriefs can be multi-agency and multi-disciplinary within the Directorate as appropriate.

The Local Authorities have standard operating procedures for a wide range of environmental health functions, including food safety and health and safety incidents. The two standard operating procedures, which are developed jointly between the Directorate of Public Health and the Local Authorities, are the sporadic food borne disease and gastrointestinal illness and the major outbreak plans.

NHS Lothian and the Local Authorities will continue to review operating procedures, including those that relate to the Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008 duties (Appendix III).

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 29 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	6

5.6 Staff knowledge, skills and training

The following arrangements are in place for ensuring the maintenance of knowledge, skills and competencies for staff with health protection duties.

5.6.1 NHS Lothian

The Director of Public Health and Health Policy issues a weekly professional update that includes training opportunities, courses and conferences as well as updates on policy, evidence and key meetings.

HPT organises, as a minimum, twice yearly on-call updates as part of regular continuing professional development (CPD) sessions within NHS Lothian's Directorate of Public Health and Health Policy. Additional related sessions, providing training and exercising for Emergency Planning, are also provided.

HPT will inform on-call staff of other training day courses and conferences organised regionally or nationally and all staff on-call are required to participate in an Emergency Planning exercise on an annual basis. All on-call staff are required to spend a full week with HPT at least every two years. This is arranged with the operational team at mutually convenient times. Ideally staff will be offered the opportunity to attend the HPS on call course once every two years. There are limited places available each year for Health Protection Scotland (HPS) on call and Scientific and Technical Advice Cell (STAC) training. NHS Lothian supports CPD requirements for registered medical and other public health and the knowledge and skills framework requirements for professional, scientific and support staff for whom formal registration requirements are not yet in place.

5.6.2 Lothian Local Authorities

All Local Authorities have procedures in place for annual review of staff development needs, including support for meeting professional CPD requirements where appropriate. All environmental health staff are encouraged to attend training or update events organised by NHS Lothian, HPS, the Royal Environmental Health Institute of Scotland (REHIS) and Food Standards Agency, for example. All local authority staff working in food safety and food standards are required to meet minimum competency and the ongoing professional development requirements of the Food Law Code of Practice. Similar formal requirements have been developed in relation to staff working in relation to occupational health and safety. NHS Lothian and the Local Authorities will keep training requirements under review, including developing joint training opportunities, particularly in relation to the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008 duties (**Appendix II**).

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 30 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	3

6. Capacity and resilience

6.1 NHS Lothian

NHS Lothian, in conjunction with Local Authorities and HPS, last assessed the capacity and resilience of local health protection services in the spring of 2009. The assessment put a set of criteria into place and these were used to assess the status of health protection services. These criteria covered a number of areas, including: team composition; resources and education; communication mechanisms and technology; information management and facilities standards; policies; procedures; joint working and governance; on call and surveillance arrangements.

In the early part of 2011, NHS Scotland Resilience, following a review of emergency preparedness as part of a national audit of Health Boards, noted that there continues to be a proactive attitude towards emergency planning in NHS Lothian, which reaches through to the wider organisation.

NHS Lothian is developing more extensive mutual aid arrangement with neighbouring Health Boards and reciprocal appointment of Competent Persons as required by the new Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act 2008.

6.2 Local Authorities

Each of the Local Authorities provides a core level of trained and competent staff to deliver a wide range of statutory environmental health duties. Local authorities undertake their own service reviews on a regular basis. In addition they are subject to external scrutiny by the FSA audit branch in relation to meeting the requirements of food safety legislation. Historically, all of the Local Authorities have been able to provide health protection related services.

6.3 Approach to regulation

We will develop a work programme to introduce new ways of working designed to minimise the adverse impact of deregulation on the ability of the Health Board and Local Authorities to comply with their duties to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of the population. In developing our priorities for action we will examine the population impact of potential adverse events against the level of risk they pose and the likelihood of occurrence. Used appropriately, regulation is an efficient, effective and equitable tool for improvement. We will introduce new interventions designed to improve performance and new tools to measure our achievements.

7. Public involvement and feedback

7.1 NHS Lothian

7.1.1 Patient and Public Involvement

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 31 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5
In NHS Lothian, involving patients and the public means involving them in how health services are designed and delivered⁴⁰. This is achieved by working in partnership with local authorities, the voluntary sector and other community groups when planning health services and health policies.

Patient and public involvement in NHS Lothian health protection activities takes place largely during individual interaction with cases and contact of cases, general educational messages sent out as a preventive measure during incidents and outbreaks. Public involvement during these incidents and outbreaks takes place via proactive media releases and response to media queries and a public helpline, if established. In addition, feedback is obtained during a variety of conferences and working groups. For example, the Hepatitis C Action Plan sub-groups and Lothian Infection Control Advisory Committee have public representatives.

7.1.2 Staff and Partnership

The NHS Lothian Partnership Forum has been established as part of an areawide employee relations framework that allows staff to influence how NHS Lothian works³⁷. In health protection terms this forum provides the opportunity of early involvement and the ability to influence decision making on health protection issues which affect staff. Partnership involvement is considered essential when any incident moves from being a Problem Assessment Group (PAG) which is a professional assessment to an Incident Management Team. One of the most obvious is helping to ensure when staff screening is necessary as part of incident management.

7.2 Lothian Local Authorities

Local authorities carry out a variety of client and community consultation and feedback activities, using the results to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of service delivery. However, for the purposes of the Joint Health Protection Plan, the main area of cross-client contact by environmental health staff is the investigation of incidences of gastrointestinal infections outwith a hospital setting.

8. Monitoring and review

An action plan has been developed (**Appendix II**) to ensure that this Joint Health Protection Plan is implemented effectively. The plan will be kept under strategic review by the steering group comprising the Director of Public Health and Health Policy, NHS Lothian and the Chief Officer(s) of Environmental Health of City of Edinburgh, East Lothian, Midlothian and West Lothian Councils.

The detailed implementation of the plan (see action plan **Appendix II**) including review of incidents, procedures, staff training will continue to be the responsibility of the NHS Health Protection Joint Liaison Group, which meets quarterly in Lothian.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 32 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	•

9. References

- 1. Scottish Government. Public Health etc. (Scotland) Act (2008). 2008. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Health/NHS-Scotland/publicact
- 2. Scottish Government. Single Outcome Agreements (for the Local Authorities) http://www.scotland.gov.uk/News/Releases/2008/06/30092907
- 3. Pennington et al. Report on the circumstances leading to the 1996 outbreak of infection with E.coli O157 in Central Scotland, the implications for food safety and the lessons to be learned. Scottish Office. 1996.
- 4. General Register Office for Scotland (GROS). General Register Office for Scotland (GRO(S)) Mid-year population estimates 2008. 2008.
- General Register Office for Scotland (GROS). Population Projections Scotland (2008 Based) - Projected population by council and NHS board area (2008-based), 2008-2033.
 <u>http://www.gro-scotland.gov.uk/files2/stats/population-projections/2008-based-popproj-scottish-areas/08pop-proj-scottishareas-table1.pdf</u> 2010.
- 6. Scottish Census Results Online (SCROL) accessed 22/02/2010.
- 7. General Register Office for Scotland (GROS). Lothian Migration Report 2009.
- 8. Scottish Infectious Disease Surveillance System v2 (SIDSS 2) NHS Lothian Health Protection Team and GRO(S) Mid-year population estimates.
- 9. Scottish Infectious Disease Surveillance System v2 (SIDSS 2) NHS Lothian Health Protection Team - accessed 25/02/2010.
- 10. Scottish Government. Good Places Better Health. (Nov 2008) http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/12/11090318/1. 2008.
- 11. Scottish Government. Equally Well Scottish Government report on health inequalities.<u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2008/06/25104032/0</u>. 2008.
- 12. Scottish Government. National outcomes. 2007. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/scotPerforms/outcomes
- 13. Scottish Government. NHS Scotland Performance Targets. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Health/NHS-Scotland/17273/targets. 2008.
- 14. Scottish Government. Preparing Scotland: Scottish Guidance on Preparing for Emergencies
 - http://scrutinyreview.org/Publications/2007/06/12094636/0
- 15. Health Protection Agency. A Children's Environment and Health Strategy for UK. 2009.
- 16. Food Standards Agency. Food Standards Agency's Strategic plan.<u>http://www.food.gov.uk/aboutus/publications/busreps/strategicplan/</u>. 2009.
- 17. Scottish Government. Guide to the Antisocial Behaviour etc. (Scotland) Act 2004. http://openscotland.net/Publications/2004/10/20146/45686
- 18. Health and Safety Executive. Health and Safety Executive. Five Year Strategy. http://www.hse.gov.uk/strategy/index.htm.2009.
- 19. Lothian and Borders Strategic Coordinating Group (SCG). Community Risk Register version 4. 409.
- 20. Lothian and Borders Emergency Planning Strategic Coordinating Group (L & B SCG). CBRN site specific response plan. 2008.

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 33 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	Ū

- 21. Chu, A., A. Thorne, and H. Guite, The impact on mental wellbeing of the urban and physical environment; an assessment of the evidence. Journal of Mental Health Promotion, 2004. **3**(2): p. 17-32.
- 22. Guite, H., C. Clark, and G. Ackrill, The impact of the physical and urban environment on mental wellbeing. Public Health, 2006. **120**(12): p. 1117-26.
- 23. Cummins, S., et al., Neighbourhood environment and its association with self rated health: Evidence from Scotland and England. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 2005. **Vol.59**(3): p. pp.
- 24. Macintyre, S., L. McKay, and A. Ellaway, Lay concepts of the relative importance of different influences on health; Are there major socio-demographic variations? Health Education Research, 2006. **Vol.21**(5): p. pp.
- 25 Scottish Government, Scottish Transport Statistics No. 28, 2009. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2009/12/18095042/0)
- 26 World Health Organisation. WHO Health 21. The health for all framework for the WHO European Region. p viii. 1999. http://www.euro.who.int/document/health21/wa540ga199heeng.pdf
- 27 Scottish Government. The Government Economic Strategy. 2007. http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2007/11/12115041/0
- 28 Brulle RJ, Pellow D N. Environmental Justice: Human Health and Environmental Inequalities. *Annual Review of Public Health* (**27):** 103-124. 2006.
- 29 SNIFFER. Investigating environmental justice in Scotland: link between measures of environmental quality and social deprivation. 2005 http://www.sniffer.org.uk/Webcontrol/Secure/ClientSpecific/ResourceManagement/U ploadedFiles/UE4(03)01.pdf
- 30 City of Edinburgh council. Edinburgh Partnership. Single outcome agreement 2009 12.

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/1008/edinburgh_partnership_single_outcome_ag reement_2009-12

- 31 East Lothian Council. Single outcome agreement 2011. http://www.eastlothian.gov.uk/downloads/ELCPSOA2011.pdf
- 32 Midlothian Council. Midlothian moving forward, Single outcome agreement 2010-13. <u>http://www.midlothian.gov.uk/site/scripts/google_results.aspx?q=Single+Outcome+ag</u> <u>reement</u>
- 33 West Lothian Council. Single outcome agreement 2011-12. http://www.westlothian.gov.uk/media/downloaddoc/1799465/lcp/SOA_2011-12
- 34 Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England Post 2010 (Marmot Review). http://www.ucl.ac.uk/gheg/marmotreview
- 35 Scottish Government. Management of Public Health Incidents. Guidance on the Roles and Responsibilities of NHS led Incident Management Teams. 2011 <u>http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/362360/0122621.pdf</u>
- 36 Prüss-Üstün, A and Corvalán, C. Preventing disease through Healthy environments. Towards an estimate of the environmental burden of disease. World Health Organisation.

http://www.who.int/quantifying_ehimpacts/publications/preventingdiseasebegin.pdf

37 NHS Lothian. NHS Lothian Partnership Forum. Partnership Agreement. 2003. <u>http://intranet.lothian.scot.nhs.uk/NHSLothian/Corporate/A-</u> <u>Z/PartnershipForum/Documents/Partnership%20Agreement.pdf</u>

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 34 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	

- World Health Organisation (WHO) Resolution. Renewed commitment to elimination of measles and rubella and prevention of congenital rubella syndrome by 2015 and Sustained support for polio-free status in the WHO European Region, Regional Committee for Europe, Sixtieth session, Moscow, 13–16 September 2010. http://www.euro.who.int/___data/assets/pdf_file/0018/120546/RC60_edoc09.pdf
- 39 European Public Health Association. Environment and health report 2011-1. 2011. http://www.eupha.org/repository/publications/EH%20report%20final%20version.pdf
- 40 NHS Lothian. Involving people improving people's experiences of care. NHS Lothian strategy 2009-2013. <u>http://intranet.lothian.scot.nhs.uk/NHSLothian/NHS%20Lothian/InvolvingPeople/Docu</u> ments/IP-IPEofC Strategy2009-13.pdf

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 35 of 60
		Revision due: March 2014	5

Appendix I : Joint Health Protection Activities

Priorities: We have specified what are the current deliverables for completion in 2012-14, what are for delivery in two to three years time or, for further in the future. These can be listed as:

- **Deliverables** for the coming year with expected outcomes and milestones;
- **Developmental** for a specific timescale beyond the coming year with expected outcomes and/or milestones listed and;
- **Directional** Horizon scanning for future public health issues;
- **Sustainability** We ensure that once targets are reached we can maintain that level.

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
		Emergency	Planning		
Public health incidents	Ensuring the most effective protection of public through NHS and Local Authorities co-operation in investigation and control of outbreaks	Perform duties and functions defined under the Public Health (S) Act. Assign appropriate staff and contribute resources required for the investigation and control of incidents and outbreaks. Exclude workers in high-risk occupations confirmed as having relevant infectious disease.		Draw up joint plans for the investigation and control of incidents and outbreaks. Participate in incident and outbreak investigation, review and audits Participate in multiagency exercises and planning events.	Deliverable
Port Health	Potential risk of importation of exotic infection from other countries. Increased potential for drug use. Lothian has major local and international transport hubs in the local area including: Edinburgh Airport, Leith Docks South Queensferry Hound Point terminal, Waverley /Haymarket	Inspection of ships for hygiene and vermin/pests Monitoring of water supplies. Enforcement of international health regulations, a designated port authority for the purpose of issuing ship sanitation etc. certificates.	controls on ships and passengers when disease reported or suspected.	Development of Joint operational plans. Response to airport call outs. Reducing risk of disease entering country via ports Ship Sanitation. Vermin control.	Deliverable

Lethion		Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 36 of 60

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority leve
	Train Stations.				
Mass Gatherings	Lothian is a centre of culture which hosts annual festivals, Hogmanay /New Year celebrations, international events such as the G8 and major international sporting events (e.g. World Cup Sevens rugby), as well as associated VIPs. This brings together populations from different parts of the world with a risk of new infection coming into the areas. There is potential risk of terrorism in large crowds.	Work with the police to ensure safety at venues. Various licensing activities for entertainment, civic government, alcohol.	Ensure that Accident and Emergency department in hospitals have emergency plans to receive casualties. Work with other agencies to ensure adequate presence of first aiders.	Develop and test Hogmanay plans prior to the season starting. Monitor upcoming events and put in place appropriate plans for international and other large size events. Identify and plan mitigation measures for public health issues that the Commonwealth Games in Glasgow (2014) may impact on Lothian.	Deliverable
Climate change.	Climate change presents a potential risk of Increased displacement of individuals due to flooding, plus disease risk after any flooding. Incident sites of potential flooding include River Esk, Almond, Water of Leith, Braid Burn, Burdiehouse Burn, Figgate Burn, River Tyne, Biel water, Brocks Burn and Linlithgow Mains.	Put in place emergency flood response plans dealing with displacement and remediation. Implement Flood Prevention Act duties.	Provide advice on potential health risk in the event of flooding. Ensure healthcare provision for vulnerable populations during flood incidents. Provide healthcare to the affected individuals Contribute to the local authority flood plans. Identify NHS Lothian sites that are vulnerable to flood risk and establish plans to mitigate the risk and ensure business continuity.	Participate in multiagency exercises and flood planning events. Participate in multiagency flood incident management. Develop plans in line with Scottish Govt Climate Change Adaptation framework 2012	Sustainable

Lathian	Lathian laint Lealth Drataction Diana	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 37 of 60

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority leve
			Implement NHS Lothian Strategic Development strategy with actions to reduce carbon emissions		
Radiation - Ionising and non-ionising	Potential risk to public from radiation sources. Risk of nuclear incident. Risk of malicious release (terrorism). Sunbed use increasing cancer risk Radon accumulations increasing cancer risks.	Draw up a multi-agency off-site nuclear incident plan. Inspection and appropriate licensing of sun-bed operators. Monitor of radon gas in public building owned by the local authority and support families to monitor homes in potentially affected areas	Contribute to a multiagency off-site plan. Monitor of radon gas in public building owned by the NHS and support families to monitor homes in potentially affected areas.	Participate in multiagency radiation exercises and planning events. Participate in multiagency radiation incident management.	Deliverable
Good Places Bett	er Health ¹⁰ (National Health Policy) iss	sues			
Prison accommodation	Lothian hosts two prisons – includes vulnerable populations. Increased risk of disease outbreaks such as hepatitis B, HIV and tuberculosis among prisoners.	Inspection of Prison kitchens under food safety and food standards legislation.	Develop close working relationship with prison staff for the provision of appropriate preventive measures and early intervention in incidents and outbreaks.	Participate in incident and disease outbreak investigation and control.	Deliverable
University accommodation	Lothian hosts several universities with large numbers of students for example the university of Edinburgh has 16,000 students. Increased opportunity for introduction and spread of infection. Increase use of Houses in Multiple	Regulation of HMOs. Investigation of housing standards issues. Protection of Private tenants through registration of private landlords.	Put in place plans to work with university authorities in monitoring and control of infection such as mumps and meningitis.	Investigate and manage incident of infections and outbreaks when they occur.	Developmenta

Lathian	Lathian Loint Health Drataction Diana	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 38 of 60

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority leve
	Occupation (HMO).	Promote Landlord Accreitation to increase standards above the statutory minimum			
Air quality.	Potential emissions and incidents relating to industrial processes in the area including : distilling and brewing, electricity generation, open cast mining and quarrying, cement manufacture etc. Risk of major incidents and release of toxic chemicals. Increase air pollution from routine emissions. Increased risk of respiratory and cardiovasicular diseases.	Monitor air quality compliance with legislative standards. Declaration of Air Quality Management areas as appropriate and formulation of action plans. Respond to planning applications where air quality may be impacted Participate in the vehicle emissions and vehicle idling partnership	Contribute to the development of the national Air Quality Monitoring during major incidents. Ad hoc and advice on analyses of health impacts of air quality.	Participate in multiagency air quality exercises and planning events. Participate in multiagency air quality incident management. Consultation on air quality action plans.	Developmenta
Home Safety	Carbon monoxide poisoning. Fire risk. Safety of appliances. Risk from goods bought	Advice and complaint investigation about the safety of goods sold. Potential for surveys and test purchasing to check the safety of good sold. Powers to seize unsafe goods.	Possibility of being asked for advice on potential risk to humans from products (e.g. those containing specific substances) Proactively offer advice to vulnerable populations in contact with clinical services e.g. children under 5. NHS Lothian also funds a range of child safety projects. Monitoring of accidents via	Health Impact Assessments of housing development and regeneration schemes.	Development

Lathian	Lethian laint Leelth Drotestian Diane	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 39 of 60

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority leve
			routine data Health Impact Assessments of housing development and regeneration schemes. Ad hoc advice and support relating to health impacts of housing.		
Housing	Poor quality, energy inefficient housing is associated with respiratory ill health and winter mortality and fuel poverty. Overcrowding is associated with poor health. Housing design features may affect mental health, accessibility and risk of domestic injury.	Work in partnership with housing services to assess quality of housing with regard to the Tolerable Standard and to use statutory powers to secure improvement where funding permits or is of significant public healt risk. Conduct the registration of Private Landlords scheme Develop and deliver the Local Housing strategy Deliver the Statement of Assistance in terms of housing improvements	Support for health impact assessments of housing developments.	Health Impact Assessments of housing development and regeneration schemes.	Deliverable
Contaminated Land	Lothian has a legacy of an industrial history and the associated issues of contaminated land including ex mining areas, former landfill sites etc.	Identification of contaminated land and addressing problems found in accordance with national guidance contained in part IIA of EPA 1990.(guidance is not contained in statute also most	Statutory consultee advising on risk to human from a wide variety of contaminants.	Investigation of assertions of risk and assessment of impact of remediation measures. Investigate contaminated land and take action to	Development

Lathian	Lethian Leist Leelth Ductostion Diana	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 40 of 60

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
	Potential chemical environmental pollution. Complaints from communities with assertions of health risk.	issues of contamination are dealt with as part of the Planning process as part of redevelopment Monitoring of sites and investigation and control of incidents where there is potential		ensure health risks are eliminated or adequately reduced.	
		human exposure. Use a phased, risk based approach to the identification, investigation and remediation of contaminated land sites.			
Greenspace	High quality accessible green space is associated with better mental health and increased physical activity.	Open space strategy	Ad hoc advice on benefits of green space. Build into work on physical activity. Support for community gardening projects and greening of NHS estate.	Health impact assessments of green pace proposals	Developmenta
Transport	Transport can affect air quality, physical activity, injuries, access to health-promoting facilities, noise, community severance etc	Local Transport Strategy	Advice on health issues arising from transport policies and proposals	Health impact assessments of transport policy and strategy	Developmenta
Quality of public realm	Design of public spaces may affect levels of physical activity, mental wellbeing, social cohesion etc.	Planning policies – formulation, implantation and monitoring	Advice on health issues arising from planning proposals	Health impact assessment of planning policies	Developmenta
Strategic Environmental Assessment	SEA includes consideration of Human Health		Offer ad hoc advice and support on health issues in SEAs	Joint work on scope of SEAs	Developmenta
	nt work to tackle the social determinar	nts of health inequalities) – National h			
Infectious and Communicable	Food poisoning. Legionella.	Investigation of potential sources, contacts and causes in	Addressing medical needs of affected persons.	Developing SOPs, planning for incident	Deliverable

Lathian	Lethian Leint Leelth Dratestian Diana	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version		
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 41 of 60	

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
Disease control		partnership with NHS.	Investigation of potential	management, managing	
		Taking appropriate formal and	sources, contacts and causes	and controlling outbreaks	
		informal action to ensure potential	with assistance of Local	and incidents and	
		source is adequately dealt with.	Authorities.	surveillance.	
		Hold register of cooling towers	Advising on potential control	Review of incident	
		etc.	options.	management and	
		Exclude high-risk persons.	Exclude high-risk persons.	learning lessons.	
		Sampling of swimming pools to		Exclude high-risk	
		ensure no risk to users.		persons.	
Animal Health	Procedures supporting the control	Monitoring of controls on animal	Working with Animal health to	Investigation and control	
and zoonotic	of BSE, bird flu,	health.	monitor the occurrence of	of incidents and	
diseases	rabies, bovine tuberculosis etc.	Appropriate formal and informal	zoonotic disease in livestock	outbreaks of zoonotic	
		action to deal with problems	and domestic animals. Advice	diseases.	
		found.	on potential risk to human		
		Monitoring of controls imposed as	arising from animal health		Deliverable
		part of animal diseases, such as	activities including outbreaks		
		animal movement orders.	of animal diseases.		
			Advice on vaccination to		
			population at risk including		
0		Descent 1919 Constant Statements	travel abroad.	Destinization in the second	
Smoking,	Smoking is the single largest	Responsibility for ensuring goods	Follow up of individual cases	Participate in disease	
alcohol and	preventable cause of premature	are not sold to those under 18.	of infection connected with	incident and outbreaks	
substance	mortality.	Age Related Sales Tobacco,	substance misuse.	related to substance	
misuse	Substance misuse is a preventable	Cigarette, Lighter Refills	Assess alerts about	misuse	
	cause of ill health, death and drug	Fireworks.	contaminated alcohol and	Underlying and long term	Dovelopmente
	related crimes.	No amplying logislation	new drugs causing potential ill health. Advise on	issues addressed through	Developmenta
		No-smoking legislation implementation regarding	ill health. Advise on appropriate measures to	planning and delivery of services in partnership	
		smoking in public places.	prevent and treat HIV,	through the Smoking &	
		smoking in public places.	Hepatitis B and C. Develop	Health, Alcohol and Drug	
		Licensing standards officers			

Lathian	Lothian Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 42 of 60	
Lotnian		Revision due: March 2014	Page 42 of 60	

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority leve
		interventions regarding age verification policy and responsible drinking.	through the HCV MCN.	Community Safety Partnerships.	
Noise Control	Anti social behaviour. Exposure to occupational noise. Exposure to nuisance noise which may effect health.	Powers to issue fixed penalty notices for anti-social activities. Powers to investigate and control noise nuisance generally through statutory nuisance legislation of licensing regime. Powers of H&S enforcement where excessive noise may be encountered in the workplace	Advice on health effects on humans arising from noise producing activity.	Provide public health advice on incidents	Sustainable
Licensing	Activities Including: Alcohol, Street Trading Tattooing & Skin Piercing Petroleum. Alcohol related health harm and community safety linked to availability. Spread of infection such as hepatitis B and C and sexually transmitted diseases.	Monitoring of alcohol licensing via licensing standards officers Licensing monitoring and inspection of street traders, tattooists, skin piercers and petroleum storage. Dealing with complaints and taking appropriate informal or formal action.	Advice on health risks of activities, the impact of alcohol on population health and the link with outlet density. Advice on implementing the public health principle in alcohol licensing including on licensing conditions and/or options to control problems and arising from incidents	Underlying and long term issues around alcohol misuse addressed through planning and delivery of services in partnership through the Alcohol and Drug Partnerships (ADPs) and Community Safety Partnerships.	Developmenta
Pest Control	Vermin — potential to spread disease. Insects — disease spread potential, can arise from unhygienic conditions with human health risk.	Inspection of area for vermin and pests taking appropriate informal or formal action to address problems found. Treating of vermin and insects (discretionary).	Advice on potential risk to humans from a variety of pests.	Investigation and control of pest related diseases.	Developmenta
Dog Control	Stray dogs — safety and potential	Uplift of stray dogs	Advice on potential risk to	Investigation and control	Development

Lathian	Lethian Leint Legith Dratestian Diana	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Daga 12 of 60
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 43 of 60

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
	for disease spread Dog fouling — potential to spread disease. Dangerous dog threat or attack. Noise nuisance from excessive barking	Enforcement of fouling and dangerous dog Legislation Promote responsible dog ownership to minimise Barking, fouling and poor control.	humans from dog fouling Linkages to promotional work on best practice and other dog related issues	of zoonotic disease related to dogs.	
Public Health Nuisances	Variety of statutory nuisance conditions affecting local residents / community.	Monitor area and respond to complaints with regard to statutory nuisance issues such as dirty houses, unhygienic living conditions, drainage problems, odour problems, etc.	Advice on risks and effects on the health of occupants and other relevant persons.	Follow up complaints and investigate nuisance that affect public health.	Developmenta
Houses in Multiple Occupation and Private sector rental accommodation	Nuisance and health effects on occupants from poor living conditions and disrepair Overcrowding, fire, safety.	Licensing of HMOs and registration of Private Landlords. Monitor local housing for defects and respond to complaints. Inspect for compliance Enforce against unlicensed/unregistered Premises.	Advice on risks and effects on the health of occupants and other relevant persons Advice on risks to health of Occupants.	Joint investigation as appropriate for HMO related public health incident	Developmenta
Health & Safety at Work.	Illness or injury to persons.	Enforcement of Health and Safety legislation: to reduce the incidence of accidents and ill health at work in partnership with the HSE. This involves adherence to inspection/sampling programme, participation in national campaigns and other	Advice on health risks (Healthy Working Lives)	Explore the link between LA health and safety investigations/ intervention planning to NHS accident/ emergency data.	Developmenta

Lathian	Lathian Laint Lealth Dratastian Diana	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version		
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 44 of 60	

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
		interventions as directed by HSE and investigation of accidents and complaints.			
Water Supplies	Old reservoirs and water treatment plants in need of development. Risk from consumption of contaminated water supplies. Lead in Water Guidance relating to WHO standards 2012.	Regulation and monitoring of private water supplies and ensuring national standards are met. Administer grant assistance scheme for improvement of private water supply quality.	Work with Scottish Water to ensure regular sampling and monitoring of supply and distribution system Advice on medical aspects of risk to individuals and groups.	Investigation of water related infections and contaminants of drinking water supply. A Health Protection Joint Liaison Subgroup on private water supply.	Deliverable
Food Safety	Reduction in food poisoning Ensure food ingredients are safe and food appropriately labelled to ensure vulnerable people are protected (e.g. — allergens)	Inspection of food premises Inspection of production facilities for hygiene and composition. Sampling of food to check for compliance with standards. Promotion of good hygienic practice. Promotion and information on labelling/composition	Advice on medical aspects on request. Linkages to promotional work on hygienic practices and other food related issues. Expert advice on potential health effects arising from conditions found.	Investigation and control of foodborne infectious disease incidents and outbreaks	Deliverable
Food hygiene and food standards	Food is a potential vehicle for transmission of infectious diseases.	Implement an effective inspection programme based on a risk based approach including adherence to inspection/sampling/ audit programmes, provision of food hygiene and food safety training to business community, There is adoptive not required participation in national campaigns as promoted by FSA, investigation of food-borne	Promote handwashing practice and food hygiene to members of the general public during incidents.	Participate in investigation of incidents and outbreaks of food borne and gastrointestinal infections.	Deliverable

Lethion	Lethion laint Leekh Drotection Diane	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Dage 45 of 60	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 45 of 60	

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
		illnesses, investigation of			
		complaints and provision of			
		information to the public on good food hygiene practice via local			
		publicity campaigns e.g. Food			
		Safety Week.			
TB services	Increasing numbers of TB cases,	Provision of housing to vulnerable	Identify, investigate and treat	Investigation and	
	drug resistance, poor compliance	groups	cases and contacts, offer	management of TB	
	amongst vulnerable groups such	Investigation of accommodation	BCG vaccination.	incidents.	
	as people who are homeless, or with problematic alcohol and/or	standards	NHS Lothian is currently implementing Scotland TB		Deliverable
	drug use.		plan and the piloting and		Deliverable
			evaluating of a web based TB		
			surveillance system for		
			Scotland.		
Sexual Health	Preventing spread of sexually	Licensing of sex shops /	Diagnosis, counseling and	Joint planning for sexual	
and HIV	transmitted infections	establishments	treatment of cases.	health and HIV – strategy	
services		Teaching about sexual health and		development HIV treatment and care –	Deliverable
		relationships.		joint agreement for	
				milestone home.	
Care Settings and	Health Improvement, Efficiency, Acce	· · · · ·			
Healthcare	There is a risk of patients who are	Food hygiene inspections of	NHS Lothian has plans to	Investigation of incidents/	
associated	free from infection acquiring it from	hospital catering. Expert support	achieve a reduction of the	outbreaks	
infections	care institutions when they get	and advice for healthcare	rate of Clostridium difficile		
	admitted for other reasons.	associated infections	infections in patients aged 65 and over to 0.39 cases or		Deliverable
			less per 1,000 total occupied		Deliverable
			bed days by 2013.		
			To further reduce healthcare		
			associated infections so that		

Lathian		Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version		
Lothian Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 46 of 60		

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority leve
			by March 2013 NHS Lothian's <i>staphylococcus</i> <i>aureus</i> bacteraemia (including MRSA) cases are 0.26 or less per 1,000 acute occupied bed days; and the rate of <i>Clostridium difficile</i> infections in patients aged 65 and over is 0.39 cases or less per 1,000 total occupied bed		
Childhood	There is a risk of vaccine	Education – school and further	days. NHS Lothian has a childhood	Reservoirs of infection	
Vaccinations	preventable diseases to re-emerge or cause outbreaks when the population vaccination coverage is low. Recent examples have been outbreak of measles and mumps.	employment, work with local businesses	immunisation programme that aims to vaccinate at least 95% of children according to national schedules (2011 uptake of MMR at 24 months was 93.5%).		Deliverable
<u>Human</u> <u>papilloma virus</u> (HPV) vaccine programme:	HPV infection is responsible for the development of almost all cases (90+%) of cervical cancer. effective against the two strains. HPV vaccines are s of the virus. The HPV vaccine for girls aged 12 to 13 years is aimed at protection against 70% of cervical cancers.		NHS Lothian continues to implement the HPV programme with catch up for S4, S5 and girls who are out of school.		Deliverable
Viral hepatitis	Prevention of BBV in drug users, increasing testing in high risk groups, ensuring immunisation policies in place for hepatitis B in	Regulation of tattooing and other high risk activities	NHS Lothian actions outlined in the Scottish Government Sexual Health and Blood Borne Virus framework are	Social worker involvement in hepatitis MCN Joint working via alcohol	Deliverable

Lathian		Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Dage 47 of 60	
Lothian Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 47 of 60		

Subject	Health Protection Issues	Local Authority Role	NHS Health Protection Role	Joint NHS/Local Authority role	Priority level
	at risk groups, collaborative		being implemented through	and drug action teams	
	working to ensure patients		the NHS Lothian Viral		
	supported through assessment and		Hepatitis Managed Care		
	treatment for hepatitis C		Network (MCN).		
Pandemic	A pandemic is one of the most	Develop local plans for response	NHS Lothian continues to	Participate in Lothian and	
Influenza	severe national challenges likely to	and recovery from a pandemic.	identify, treat and monitor	Borders Strategic	
	affect Scotland and Lothian.		cases of influenza A(H1N1)	Coordintating Group	
	Proportionate planning and		and will ensure arrangements	pandemic planning	Sustainable
	drawing on lessons learnt from		are in place to offer	process.	Custalitable
	H1N1 is essential for mitigation of		vaccination to the Lothian		
	the potential impact of a pandemic.		population against this virus		
			as appropriate.		
Public Health (S)			I	1	
Information	Sharing information is essential for		NHS Lothian has	Regularly review	
sharing (NHS &	effective implementation of health		arrangement for ensuring that	effectiveness of	
local	protection interventions.		Health professionals	arrangement for	
authorities) and			employed or contracted have	information sharing	
joint analysis			the training and support	between NHS Lothian	
			necessary to allow them to	and local authorities.	Deliverable
			balance their responsibilities		
			for patient confidentiality, with		
			public safety and health		
			protection when sharing		
Drevielen -f	Improved an electron discover of		information.	laint investigations	
Provision of		Arrangement for disposal of dead	Advice on health risks in	Joint investigations as	
Mortuaries	dead bodies can result in spread of	under National Assistance Act	relation to contaminated/	necessary	Dovolonmente
	infection	provisions.	infected bodies.		Developmenta
l		Provision of mortuary facilities			

Lethion	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	Page 48 of 60	
Lothian Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014	Page 46 01 60	

Reference Section	Action	Responsibility	Timescale	Outcome	Priority Level
1	The steering group will continue to oversee the implementation of the plan.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	On-going	Regular review of planned activities	Deliverable
1	Ensure implementation and compliance with all the requirements within the act	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM and respective teams	Annual	Implement all aspects of the new act according to the law.	Deliverable
2.2	Investigate of assertions of risk and assessment of impact of remediation measures.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	On-going	Adequate risk assessment and risk management carried out	Deliverable
2.2	Investigate contaminated land and take action to ensure health risks are eliminated or adequately reduced.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Adequate risk assessment and risk management carried out	Deliverable
2.2	Carry out health impact assessments of greenspace, transport policy and strategy proposals, planning policies and joint work on scope of SEAs	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	On-going	HIA reports available to inform policy and planning	Developmental
4.1	Health Impact Assessments of housing development and regeneration schemes.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	HIA reports available to inform housing policy	Developmental
4.1	Address underlying and long term issues through planning and delivery of services in partnership through the Smoking & Health, Alcohol and Drug Partnerships (ADPs) and Community Safety Partnerships.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Declining substance misuse rates and associated long term issues	Sustainable
4.1	Investigation and control of pest related diseases zoonotic disease related to dogs.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Reduced pest incidents and zoonotic diseases	Deliverable
4.1	Follow up complaints and investigate nuisance that affect public health.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Reduced complaints associated with nuisances.	Deliverable
4.3	Reduce risk of disease entering country via ports by responding to airport call outs, ship sanitation inspection and vermin control.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	On-going	Prompt response to port health call out	Sustainable
4.3	Develop and test emergency plans for mass gathering including national and international events such as games and sports and the	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	On-going	Event health emergencies adequately handled	Sustainable

Appendix II: Joint Health Protection Action Plan

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
Lounian		Revision due: March 2014

Reference Section	Action	Responsibility	Timescale	Outcome	Priority Level
	Hogmanay plans prior to the season starting.				
4.3	Participate in multiagency climate change mitigation emergency plans such as flood plans. Develop plans in line with Scottish Govt Climate Change Adaptation framework 2012	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	On-going	Continuous mitigation of environment impact arising from climate change	Deliverable
4.3	Participate in multiagency radiation exercises and planning events.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Two-yearly	Staff capacity and resilience for response to radiation incidents improved	Deliverable
4.3	Participate in multiagency air quality exercises and planning events and consultations on air quality action plans.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Effective response to air quality incidents	Deliverable
4.4	Ensure that lessons learnt from incidents and outbreak informs the development and review of plans.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM and respective teams	Annual	Plans and SOPs are suited to local needs.	Deliverable
4.2.2	Joint planning for sexual health and HIV – strategy development HIV treatment and care – joint agreement for milestone home.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Joint sexual health and HIV strategy in place and used.	Deliverable
4.2.2	Involve social workers in hepatitis Managed Clinical Networks. Joint working via alcohol and drug action teams	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Social workers participate in Hepatitis MCN	Deliverable
4.2.3	Participate in multiagency exercises and planning events.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Continuous improvement of staff capacity and resilience	Deliverable
5	Draw up joint plans for the investigation and control of incidents and outbreaks. and audits	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Dec 2012	Plans in place and applied	Deliverable
5.1	Share lists of competent persons as required by the act	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Agencies have up- to-date lists of competent persons for Lothian	Deliverable
5.1	Appoint and review competent persons list.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM	Annual	Sufficient numbers of competent persons within agencies	Deliverable
5.5	Hold major incident plan exercise (joint LA/ NHS Lothian)	PH/EHO/Med/V et/SW liaison	Annual	Update of plans based on	Deliverable

Reference Section	Action	Responsibility	Timescale	Outcome	Priority Level
	Regularly exercise key health protection plans including GI and food incidents and the major incident plan.	group		exercises. Staff trained during exercises.	
5.5	NHS Lothian and the Local Authorities will keep Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) under review, including developing and reviewing procedures up-to-date in relation to the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008 duties.	Health Protection Joint Liaison group	Annual	Staff working with updated SOPs	Deliverable
5.5	Review Lothian Joint Health Protection Plan (2012)	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHMNHS	April 2014	Revised plan in place and up-to- date.	Sustainable
5.6	Developing joint training opportunities, particularly in relation to the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008 duties.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM Health Protection Joint Liaison group	Annual	Joint training taking place.	Deliverable
5.6.2	NHS Lothian and the Local Authorities will keep training requirements under review, including for competent persons and investigator knowledge and skills, developing joint training opportunities, particularly in relation to the Public Health etc (Scotland) Act 2008 duties.	Health Protection Joint Liaison group	Annual	List of training requirement in place and shared with staff	Deliverable
6	Assess capacity and resilience to provide health protection services in Lothian	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM NHS Lothian and LA s	Annual	NHS Lothian and Lothian Local Authorities have sufficient numbers of competent persons and investigators for both in and out of hours interventions	Deliverable
6.3	Explore and identify new ways of working in response to revised approach to regulation.	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead CPHM NHS Lothian and LA s	Annual	New ways of working identified and applied.	Deliverable
7	Explore mechanisms for improved public involvement activities for health protection in all agencies.	Health Protection Joint Liaison group	Annual	Review of plans with consideration of public in-put.	Deliverable
5.2, 5.3	Ensure the acquisition and use of appropriate information	DPH/Chief EHO and Lead	Annual	Accurate recording and reporting of	Deliverable

Lathian	laint Loolth Distantion Dispa	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version		
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014		

Reference Section	Action	Responsibility	Timescale	Outcome	Priority Level
	technology for the investigation and management of outbreaks and incidents	CPHM and respective teams		incidents and outbreaks. Timely availability of epidemiological information.	

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
		Revision due: March 2014

Appendix III : Key health protection plans for the Lothian area

Shared Plans	Last Review Date	Next Review Date
Lothian and Borders Police Major Incident Plan	01/2010	Under review
Lothian and Borders Emergency Planning Strategic Co-ordinating Group Generic Emergency Plan (maintained by SCG Co-ordinator)	05/2011	05/2012
Lothian and Borders Emergency Planning Strategic Co-ordinating Group Pandemic Influenza (maintained by SCG Co-ordinator)	05/2010	Under review
Lothian and Borders Emergency Planning Strategic Co-ordinating Group Community Risk Register	04/2011	Under review
Lothian and Borders Emergency Planning Strategic Co-ordinating Group Public Communications Plan	05/2011	05/2012
Lothian and Borders Emergency Planning Strategic Co-ordinating Group Animal Health Plan	05/2010	Due to be replaced by a National plan being developed by Animal Health
The City of Edinburgh Council Emergency Plan (General Plan for the Council's response to Serious Emergencies or Major Incidents).	02/2010	Under review
The City of Edinburgh Council Pipelines Emergency Plan (Statutory Requirement under the Pipelines Safety Regulations)	01/2009	Under review
A draft plan is being developed for Edinburgh City Centre Evacuation by Lothian and Borders Police and the City of Edinburgh Council, partner organisations will be consulted in due course.	11/2011	11/2014
City of Edinburgh Model Response Plan (maintained by Lothian and Borders Police)	05/2011	05/2012
NHS Borders Pandemic Influenza Plan	02/2009	Under review
The City of Edinburgh Council BP Dalmeny Installation Off Site Plan (Statutory Requirement under the Control of Major Accident Hazards Regulations)	12/2011	12/2014
Joint Port Health Plan	2009	2012
Lothian and Borders Police Severe Weather plan	07/2011	06/2012
Scottish Waterborne Hazard Plan	07/2010	02/2012
The City of Edinburgh Council Emergency Flooding Plan (To be replaced by a joint Lothian and Borders Police/City of Edinburgh Council Flooding Emergency Plan in next few months.)	11/2011	11/2012
Sporadic food and gastrointestinal infection incidents plans	2009	2012
Blue Green Algae in Inland Waters Assessment and Control etc. Plan	2009	2010
Shared Waste Water Incident Plan	2009	07/2012

	Last	Next
NHS Lothian	Review	Review
	Date	Date

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
		Revision due: March 2014

	Last	Next
NHS Lothian	Review Date	Review Date
NHS Lothian Major Outbreak Plan for Lothian	2009	2012
NHS Lothian Major Incident Strategic Response Plan	2010	Oct 2011
Contingency Plan for Pandemic Influenza: Strategic Policy		March 2012
NHS Lothian and Port Health Authority		
Procedure for cases of illness in vessels arriving at Leith and other anchorages in Lothian.		
NHS Lothian and Port Health Authority Procedure for cases of illness in aircraft arriving in Edinburgh	09/2009	2011
Drug and Alcohol Plan		
The Sexual Health and Blood Borne Virus Framework	2011	2015
A TB Action Plan for Scotland	2011	2014
NHS Lothian Standard Operating procedures for specific diseases including meningitis, E.coli O157.		

City of Edinburgh Council	Last Review Date	Next Review Date
Corporate Business Continuity Plan	2008	2009
Council Emergency Plan	2007	2009
Business Continuity Pandemic Flu Plan	2009	2011
Bereavement Management Response to Pandemic Situations	2009	2009

West Lothian Council	Last Review Date	Next Review Date
West Lothian Major Incident Plan	2008	2010
Severe Weather Plan	2009	2010
Major Accident Hazard Pipelines Emergency Plan	2009	2010
Control of Major Accident Hazard Off Site Emergency Plan	2006	2010
Livingston Shopping Centre Emergency Plan	2009	2012

East Lothian Council	Last Review Date	Next Review Date
Business Continuity Plan	2011	2012
Torness Off Site Emergency Plan	2010	2012
Corporate Emergency Plan	2011	2012
Chemical Incident Plan	2009	
Oil Pollution Plan	2009	2012
Severe weather response plan	2011	2013
Pipeline Plan		
Rabies Emergency Plan	2009	2012

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
		Revision due: March 2014

Midlothian Council	Last Review Date	Next Review Date
Midlothian Registered Care Homes Stage 2 Plan	2009	2010
Midlothian Council Business Continuity Plans (Midlothian Council Services)	2009	2012
Recovery Plan	2009	2010
Midlothian Council Emergency Plan	2009	2012
Midlothian Council's Registrars Emergency Plan	2009	2012
Fuel Plan	2010	2012
LBSCG Pandemic Influenza guidelines	2009	2009
Midlothian Council Avian Flu Plan	2009	2010
Midlothian Council Severe Weather Plan	2008	2009
Pipeline plan	2008	2011
Midlothian Council Food Service Plan	2009	2010
LBSCG Disease of Animals Plan	2010	2013
Rabies Outbreak Contingency Plan	2010	2013
Avian Influenza and Newcastle disease plan	2010	2013

Lothian	nian Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
Louman		Revision due: March 2014

Appendix IV : Significant public health incidents or outbreaks 2010-2011

NHS Lothian

Business Continuity:

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans
Pandemic Flu	
Chemical / radiological and biological	
Contaminated land in Fauldhouse with alleged	
cancer cluster.	
Investigation of alleged increased respiratory disease following traffic diversion	
Fire in a printing factory In West Lothian resulting in the release of chromium in air and local rivers.	
Burst pipe at Dalmeny Tank Farm with release of	
yellow liquid into the Forth estuary and hydrogen	
sulphide gas into the atmosphere	
Cryptosporidium among University of Edinburgh	
veterinary students	
Water	
High lead levels in a block of flats at Cambridge	
Street	
Food	
Outbreak of norovirus at the Marriot Hotel in	
Edinburgh	
Salmonella bareilly in bean sprouts	
Specific Diseases	
Burkholderia pseudomallei bacterium (melioidosis) a	Swift liaison with HPS and Police to ensure no
rare organism listed as a potential bioterroism agent.	malicious involvement
Three measles outbreak in 2011	Improved working arrangements with Virology
	and Occupational Health Department.
	Vaccination of MMR offered to staff
Diarrhoea and vomiting in a school trip, Saltersgate	
special needs school, Merchison Castle and	
Ballgreen primary schools.	
Syphilis in prison	
Acinetobacter (an emerging infection) a gram	
negative bacterium resistant to nearly antibiotics	
intensive care unit at the RIE.	
E coli in Nursery	

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
Lounian		Revision due: March 2014

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans
campylobacter increase	
Health Care Acquired Infections (HAI)	
HPT assisted in investigating the following HAI infections:	
Outbreak of respiratory syncytial virus in Haematology ward (WGH)	
Two outbreaks of parainfluenza type 3 at the WGH	
C difficile in at RIE	
Atypical Mycobacterium at the WGH	
MRSA at the neonatal unit at RIE	
Norovirus ward 108 at the RIE	
Invasive group A Streptococcus Aureus (IGAS) in Liberton hospital, WGH,	

Diand Darma Virusaa	
Blood Borne Viruses	
Investigation of unlicensed tattooist with possible transmission of bloodborne virsuses.	A look back exercise reviewed procedures University improved its Lab supervision of students and accreditation procedures for lab staff.
An anonymised investigation of possible CJD identified by a novel technique in a blood donor	
Tuberculosis	
Increase in TB cases and incidents – 11 incidents of TB required full investigation	Recruitment of new staff to support TB activities.
Vaccine Related	
Five cold chain incidents	

City of Edinburgh Council:

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans	
Environmental (EIA)		
Seafield sewage treatment works pump failure resulting in environmental pollution	See previous reference to shared Wastewater Treatment plan	

West Lothian Council:

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans
-------------------	----------------------

Lathian		Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans		
Environmental (EIA)			
Redevelopment of former Polkemmet Colliery, Whitburn			
Redevelopment of former Riddochhill Colliery, Blackburn			
Upgrading of Newbridge Junction to Bathgate railway	Heavy overnight engineering works in densely populated areas		
Conversion of abandoned railway course / cycle path to operational railway			
Demolition of asbestos clad former 'Edgar Allen' Foundry, Bathgate			
Major Fire at Campbell's Prime Meat, Brock's Way, Broxburn (May 2009)			
Water			
Major Flooding in Broxburn incident			
Food			
Salmonella Outbreak in Chinese Restaurants (2008)			
Sudan dye incidents			
Specific Diseases			

East Lothian Council:

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans	
Pandemic Flu		
National Swine flu (Influenza A - H1N1) outbreak (2009)	Business Continuity Plan and Corporate Emergency Plan reviewed and updated to take account of Flu Pandemic	
Chemical / radiological and biological		
A1 Chemical Incident (2009)	Review of procedures undertaken	
Petrol leakage incident North Berwick (2008)	Review of procedures undertaken	
Environmental (EIA)		
Forth River sewage spill	As for City of Edinburgh - Review of FSA procedures underway	
Avian Flu/ Newcastle Disease		
Newcastle disease outbreak (2008)	Avian Flu/ Newcastle Disease plan reviewed	

Midlothian Council:

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans
Influenza A (H1N1) Outbreak 2009	Business Continuity Plan and Corporate

Lethion Isint Leelth Protection Plane	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version	
Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Revision due: March 2014

Incident/Outbreak	Improvement to plans
	Emergency Plan reviewed and updated

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
Lotinari	Joint Health Flotection Flans	Revision due: March 2014

List of Acronyms

APP	Authority Public Protection	
AIPG	Avian & Influenza Pandemic Group	
AQMA	Air Quality Management Area	
BBV	Blood Bourne Viruses	
CBRN	Chemical Biological, Radiological & Nuclear	
CEC	City of Edinburgh Council	
CNS	Central Nervous System	
COSLA	Convention of Scottish Local Authorities	
CPD		
CPHM	Continuing Professional Development	
	Consultant in Public Health Medicine	
DPH	Director of Public Health	
EC	European Commission	
EHO	Environmental Health Officer	
ELC	East Lothian Council	
EMF	Electromagnetic Field	
FSA	Food Standards Agency	
GROS	General Register Office for Scotland	
HCAI	Healthcare Associated Infections	
HEAT	Health Improvement, Efficiency, Access Treatment	
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus	
HPS	Health Protection Scotland	
HPT	Health Protection Team	
HPV	Human Papiloma Virus	
LBSCG	Lothian and Borders Scottish Co-ordinating Group	
LICAC	Lothian Infection Control Advisory Committee	
MC	Midlothian Council	
MMR	Measles, Mumps Rubella	
MRSA	Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus	
MTPAS	Mobile Telecommunications Privileged Access Scheme	
NHS	National Health Service	
REHIS	Royal Environmental Health Institute of Scotland	
SARS	Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome	
SEISS	Scottish Epidemiology Infection Surveillance System	
SEPA	Scottish Environment Protection Agency	
SHPIMS	Scottish Health Protection Information Management System	
SHPIR	Scottish Health Protection Information Resource	
SIDNEY	Scottish Infectious Diseases Notification Electronic eYe	
SOA	Single Outcome Agreement	
STAC	Science and Technical Cell Course	
STI	Sexually transmitted infections	
SW	Scottish Water	
WHIP	Worcestershire Health Informatics Programme	

Lothian	Joint Health Protection Plans	Approved: 1 April 2012 Final version
		Revision due: March 2014